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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWR TN

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China
Environmental Resources Group Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the Annual Report 2022 and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 30 June 2022.

BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

The Group is currently engaged in metal recycle business, motor
and motor accessories business, car parking spaces rental, money
lending business and securities trading and investment business.
The Group also maintains the green businesses of research,
development and application of technologies and solutions,
manufacture, sale and trading of products, materials, systems and
services for green market segments including the environmental
markets, agricultural markets, organic markets and green
technology markets in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC")
and overseas. The Group is developing a hotel business in Nepal.

The Group has been continuing to explore new business
opportunities for corporate development and dedicates to develop
sustainable current business.

Investment Properties

The Group holds two investment properties located at PRC and
Hong Kong respectively.

In PRC

The Company holds 80% interest of an investment property in
PRC which are industrial properties with land lot numbers of
1914130300339 and 1914130300340, located at Longchuanzhou,
Renzhou Village, Shatian, Dongguan City, Guangdong Province.
The industrial properties comprise two parcels of land with a site
area of about 72,335.99 sq.m (or about 778,624.6 sq.ft.) and
various buildings and ancillary structures erected thereon. The
property has a total gross floor area of approximately 28,814.66
sq.m (or about 310,161.00 sq.ft.). The land use rights of the
property have been granted for various terms expiring on
15 February 2044 and expiring on 10 May 2044 for industrial use.
No business activity is engaged at the industrial properties.

The Group considers that the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area development will support economic development
of the Dongguan City as an international trade hub in Southern
China.
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Planning to the best usage or redevelopment of the industrial
properties had been delayed because of publication of a new
town zoning plan by the Dongguan government authority. Under
the new zoning plan a new highway was being mapped and part
of the land of the industrial properties would be used as or
affected by an exit and its connected roads from the highway for
Shatian Town. The Group had petitioned to the Dongguan City
government authorities requesting amendments to the plan to save
the industrial properties from being affected. The Dongguan City
government authorities have not yet concluded our petition and
the Group will closely monitor the development and work on the
best possible solution in the circumstances.

The recent announcement by the PRC central government to
expand the Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong Kong Modern Service Industry
Cooperation Zone from 14.9 square kilometres to 120.6 square
kilometres and deepening the cooperation between Shenzhen and
Hong Kong is a positive news for the industrial properties because
of their proximity to Qianhai. Together with the news of a new
cooperation zone for Macau with neighbouring Henggin, both
seen as renewed commitment of the central government to push
ahead with its Greater Bay Area ambitions, the industrial
properties are expected to maintain their value despite the recent
downturn of the real estate market in the PRC.

In Hong Kong

The Group holds 100% interest of a Hong Kong investment
property which comprises 95 car parking spaces at Inland Lot No.
1301 where 72 car parking spaces are located at 2nd Floor to 4th
Floor of Harbour View Garden and 23 car parking spaces are
located at 3th Floor, Tower Ill, Harbour View Garden, No. 2
Catchick Street, Hong Kong.

The car parking spaces are held under Government Lease for a
term of 999 years commencing on 24 June 1892 and are leased
out for parking fee income.

The car parking spaces continued to provide a stable revenue and
cash flow to the Group. For the year ended 30 June 2022, rental
income increased to approximately HK$4,329,000 (2021:
approximately HK$4,036,000).
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Biological Assets

By way of a forestry management and undertaking agreement, the
Group through its wholly-owned subsidiary acquired timber cutting
right over a plantation land of approximately 30,000 mu (Chinese
Mu) in Shihezi City, Xinjiang (the “Plantation Land”) for a period
of 30 years commencing on 1 July 2008.

In the process of valuing the biological assets planted at the
Plantation Land, Colliers Appraisal and Advisory Services Co., Ltd.
("Colliers”) adopted the Market-Based Approach to estimate the
fair value of the biological assets. The fair value of the biological
assets was computed using the formula:

The fair value of biological assets = (Total volume of standing
timbers x Recovery rate) x Market price of timber — cutting cost +
Scrap sale income

According to TEER EBE — N Bt ERAERME prepared
by CNBM Geological Engineering Exploration Academy Co. Ltd.
(“CNBM"), stratified random samplings have been applied in order
to estimate the total volume of standing timbers on the Plantation
Land based on the “Dual stumpage volume table for plain area
artificial poplar forests of Xinjiang (3138 F /R 5 A T =07 K
#F&3R) DB65/T2283-2005". During each sampling process, whole
plantation land of 30,000 mu was divided into 3,828 sampling
areas and 447 sampling areas were selected. The following inputs
have been adopted in this valuation based on the opinions as
stated in FTIBEZEE — N BN ERFAERS prepared by
CNBM:

. Total volume of standing timbers = 447,430 m?3
o Recovery rate = 80%

o Cutting cost = 6% of revenue

o Scrap sale income = 4% of revenue
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With reference to observable market price of timber of similar
pieces in Mainland China, the adopted market price was RMB650
per cubic meter. To determine how the different values of an
independent variable would impact a particular dependent variable
under a given set of assumptions, Colliers carried out sensitivity
analysis on the fair value of the biological assets in respect of the
recovery rate and adopted market price. The results of the
sensitivity analysis are as follows:

R2ERBERMRBAY 2 AIBETE -
FIRRMMmEREY T RKARBES0T - /E
ER—ABERR N —RABYERZEE
TRHX - ERER 2FE - Colliersih
RWRERFAEATESENEERREE
THBREDN - BEREDMAERMT

Absolute Change in Recovery Rate

Applied Recovery Rate

Fair Value of the Biological Asset

R BB EHE Pt A R W 3 EMEEARE
(RMB)
AE®)
+10% 90% 256,511,000
+5% 85% 242,261,000
+0% 80% 228,010,000
-5% 75% 213,760,000
-10% 70% 199,509,000

% change in Adopted Market Price Adopted Market Price

Fair Value of the Biological Asset

PR AR 40 Th (B2 8 % PR 4% 4 h (B EMEEARE
(RMB/m?) (RMB)
(BT KARE) (AR®)
+10% 715 250,811,000
+5% 683 239,411,000
+0% 650 228,010,000
5% 618 216,610,000
-10% 585 205,209,000

The directors are of the view that the fair value of the biological
assets is under a significant impact from changes in market price
per m? of logs. If the market price per m® of logs increases/
decreases, the fair value of the biological assets would be higher/
lower proportionately, given that other inputs and assumptions
used in the valuation techniques remained unchanged. For the
financial year ended 30 June 2022, growth and volume of the
biological assets were affected by shortage of water resources, soil
degradation and broken ecosystem. For cost control purpose, the
Group has not appointed operator for forest plantation
maintenance since July 2018 and yet to devise appropriate valued
and cost effective plan to address these negative condition. The
Group recorded an increase to approximately HK$267,079,000
(2021: approximately HK$264,209,000) in the fair value of the
poplar trees of biological assets. The increase is mainly attributable
to the increase in volume of standing timbers.
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The actual fair value of poplar tree of biological assets in RMB as
at 30 June 2022 amounted to approximately RMB228,010,000
(2021: approximately RMB219,727,000). The Group considers that
such fair value change is non-cash in nature and will not have
effect on the cash flow and business operation of the Group.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2022, the Group
recognised aggregate net gains arising from the major non-current
assets of approximately HK$579,000 (2021: losses approximately
HK$26,727,000). This represents the combined effect of the
amortisation and impairment loss of intangible assets, the gain
(2021: loss) arising from changes in fair value less costs to sell of
biological assets and provision for impairment loss of right-of-use
assets.

Plantation Sales Business

Source of the plantation sales business is the poplar trees at the
Plantation Land. There was no timber cutting activity and, hence,
for the year ended 30 June 2022, there was no revenue
generated from the plantation sales business (2021: Nil).

The Group is working prudently to find the best possible use of
the biological assets and will cautiously evaluate the actual
economic return after knowing the harvest quota available
alongside with comprehensive analysis of all risks and uncertain
factors before making any investment decision.

Metal Recycle Business

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group recorded an increase
in revenue from metal recycle business with total of approximately
HK$17,514,000 (2021: approximately HK$13,117,000).

Scrape metal is becoming more valuable because it is now being
placed as an essential energy saving decarbonisation tool
worldwide. Scrap metal is changing its status, its image, its price
and even its name. The quantity of trade restrictions emerging on
scrap is an indicator of its growing value. Various countries have
announced export restrictions, perceiving the importance of
keeping at home more recycled raw materials for steel and metal
production. Complex supply-demand dynamics are fostering price
volatility. According to Standard and Poor global market
intelligence, Turkish import of premium melting scrap fluctuated
between US$665/mt and US$320/mt in the four months following
the start of the Ukraine war. However, the range is still well
above the US$207/mt in March 2020 following the COVID-19
markets slump, as decarbonisation gathers pace.
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In Hong Kong, the main source of metal scrap is from
construction sites. According to the Census and Statistics
Department’s publication in December 2022, the gross value of
construction works in the third quarter of 2022 was in real terms
increased in private sector by 3.4 percentage with a decrease by
5.3% at public sector. However, any increase or decrease was
based on the much downslope figure of the year 2021. Scrap
source in Hong Kong is becoming more and more difficult, not to
mention competition has been increased.

Further, there are negative factors arising from the COVID-19
pandemic that are still affecting the business. On the China
market, there had been locations being locked out occasionally
and stricter hygienic progress for foreign importation. For China
and Southeast Asia countries, logistics are being disrupted by
unstable sea freight price, container space booking and ports’
operation. All these factors discourage exporters to maintain heavy
inventory and adopting a conservative stance on pricing.

Motor and Motor Accessories Business

The business has two segments, sale of super car “BAC MONO”,
high end used cars and motorcycle “Norton” and sale of motor
accessories of mainly prestige “Pirelli” motorcycle tyres, “Ohlins”
vibes absorbers, “SBS” brake solutions and “Sprint Filter” air
filters.

We were able to have a 20% increase in revenue. Reasons being
that we maintained a relatively stable performance on motor
accessories sales and we were able to complete some delivery
orders of “BAC MONO"” to customers after its United Kingdom
manufacturer resumed production after lifting of COVID-19
lockdown.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, revenue from motor and motor
accessories business increased to approximately HK$71,016,000
(2021: approximately HK$58,495,000).

Money Lending Business

The Group operates money lending business through a wholly
owned subsidiary, which is a holder of money lender’s license
under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of
Hong Kong). The Group has adopted money lending policies and
procedures for handling and/or monitoring the money lending
business in compliance with the Money Lenders Ordinance.
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During the year, the Group recorded loan interest income of
approximately HK$329,000 (2021: approximately HK$2,230,000)
from loans granted to both corporate and individual clients,
representing a relatively down trend operation of the money
lending segment. The outstanding principal amount of loan
receivables as at 30 June 2022 was approximately HK$9,802,000
(2021: approximately HK$9,837,000). During the year, no provision
for impairment loss of loan receivables (2021: approximately
HK$4,152,000) was considered necessary in the application of
HKFRS 9 by the Group.

Securities Trading and Investment Business

The Group maintained a very cautious approach and did not
participate in new securities trading during the year. Performance
of the prices of the invested stocks were down. As at 30 June
2022, size of the securities investment portfolio amounted to
approximately HK$961,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,129,000).

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group recorded a net loss
on fair value changes in investments at fair value through profit or
loss of the invested stocks of approximately HK$167,000 (2021:
approximately HK$567,000).

Details of the Group's investments at fair value through profit or
loss of the invested stocks are set out in the sub-section headed
“Significant Investments”.

Green Technology

There was no revenue on the green technology for the year (2021:
Nil).

Golden Flower Tea Products

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group did not record
revenue from the sale of golden flower tea (2021: Nil).

PROSPECTS

We wrote in our last prospects published on 30 September 2022
that according to World Health Organisation Director General that
we had never been in a better position to end the pandemic
although we were not there, the end was in sight. Now six
months had lapsed since we last reported and we can comfortably
say that the end is really in sight. At least, psychological and
physical hardships arising from or connecting with the viruses have
been greatly reduced.
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In December 2022, China ended its zero-COVID policy. Since then,
COVID-19 cases in China increased rapidly. Luckily, worries of new
variants might emerge as a result of massive infection do not
materialised. COVID-19 cases in China may have peaked after
climbing the curve since adopting the new policy. Whilst,
according to past experience, a few waves would have been
occurred before COVID-19 infection really flattened, outlook for
China and Hong Kong to combat the pandemic is encouraging
and never at a better position since its outbreak three years ago.
Both the Chinese and Hong Kong governments are administering
efforts in resuming everything to normal.

The Hong Kong economy continued to register a visible year-on-
year contraction in the third and fourth quarter of 2022 of which
real GDP declined by 4.6% and 4.2% respectively. For 2022 as a
whole, real GDP shrank by 3.5%. Looking ahead, the Hong Kong
economy is expected to show some recovery in 2023. Likewise,
China’s economy is predicted to have a growth of approximately
5% as well. These growths are attributable to the abandonment
of zero-COVID lockdown policies. We expect that there shall be
more programmes and directives to boost the economy after the
new top government leadership appointments are being confirmed
at the coming first meeting of the 14th National People’s
Congress.

The Federal Reserve raised the target range for the fed funds rate
by 0.25% to 4.5%-4.75% in its February 2023 meeting. The
Federal Reserve maintains a very tough stance on inflation and
estimates it will raise the key interest rate at 5.00%—-5.25% at the
end of 2023 to curb inflation. In that sense, we shall not expect a
weak US dollars. A strong US dollars is not good for economy
recovery for most of the countries. This is one of the negative
consideration in that the costs of money is much higher than that
of one year ago and an upward trend is anticipated.

After a year of war in Ukraine, all signs point to more misery with
no end in sight. Neither side appears primed for an outright
military victory, and progress at the negotiating table seems just as
unlikely. The global economy continues to be weakened by the
war through significant disruptions in trade, food and fuel price
shocks, all of which are contributing to high inflation and
subsequent tightening in global financing conditions. China’s
stance on the Ukraine war is drawing close attention by many
nations. China’s overall trade with Russia increased by 30% and
hit a record high level of US$190 billion in 2022. We hope that
China will take a pragmatic approach in the war without
sacrificing its economy recovery plan.
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The Group will allocate more resources to expand motor
accessories, especially high performance tyres, sales business in
PRC. Whilst the China and Hong Kong economy are predicted to
have approximately 5% growth, that is set up on a weakened
base for three consecutive years. Consolidating existing business
operation, exercising more controls over operating costs and
overheads, cautiously approaching and considering any new
business opportunities will continuously be maintained by the
Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 30 June 2022, revenue of the Group increased
by 19.7% to approximately HK$93,188,000 (2021: approximately
HK$77,878,000) and gross profit of the Group increased by 6.5%
to approximately HK$21,153,000 (2021: approximately
HK$19,867,000). Loss for the year ended 30 June 2022 decreased
to approximately HK$14,828,000 as compared to loss of
approximately HK$48,942,000 of last corresponding year. The
increase in revenue was mainly due to the increase in revenue of
recycled material trading business, motor and motor accessories
business and investment properties in Hong Kong. The gross profit
for the year maintained at almost the same level as compared to
last financial year. The loss for the year was mainly due to
administrative and operating expenses, provision for impairment
loss of intangible assets, provision for impairment loss of
right-of-use assets and finance cost. The Group considers that the
change in fair value is non-cash in nature and will not have
material adverse effect on the financial position of the Group.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, basic and diluted loss per share
were HK1 cent (2021: HK2 cents). Gain arising from changes in
fair value less costs to sell of biological assets was approximately
HK$10,018,000 (2021: loss approximately HK$8,245,000). No fair
value gain on investment properties was recorded for year ended
30 June 2022 (2021: approximately HK$1,900,000).

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the finance costs were
approximately HK$3,608,000 (2021: approximately HK$2,469,000).
Administrative expenses from operations for the year ended
30 June 2022 increased to approximately HK$41,408,000 (2021:
approximately HK$41,210,000). It included major items such as
amortisation of intangible assets of approximately HK$5,151,000,
salaries and directors’ emoluments of approximately
HK$13,289,000 and expenses related to short-term leases of
approximately HK$630,000. Income tax expenses was recorded at
approximately HK$1,606,000 (2021: credit approximately
HK$1,114,000). Exchange loss on translating foreign operations
was recorded at approximately HK$8,404,000 (2021: gain
approximately HK$30,913,000).

12 China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 30 June 2022, the total assets of the Group were
approximately HK$780,508,000 (2021: approximately
HK$799,650,000), including cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$6,295,000 (2021: approximately
HK$19,005,000).

The Group’s total borrowings as at 30 June 2022 were
approximately HK$68,215,000 (2021: approximately
HK$71,787,000). The Group’s gearing ratio (which was expressed
as a percentage of total borrowings over total equity) was
approximately 12.7% as at 30 June 2022 (2021: approximately
12.8%).

As at 30 June 2022,
approximately HK$536,469,000
HK$559,701,000).

the Group’s net assets amounted to
(2021: approximately

The directors of the Company are of the view that the Group has
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future.

Significant Investments

As at 30 June 2022, the Group held investments at fair value
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FTET TET % %
China Fortune Financial Group Ltd 1290 Cayman Islands 23 299 311 0.06
FEEEEREEERD HErS
Dingyi Group Investment Ltd 2 508 Bermuda 14 118 123 0.02
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Wai Chun Group Holdings Ltd 31013 Bermuda 99 269 28.0 0.05
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China Fortune Financial Group Ltd is a Hong Kong-based investment
holding company principally engaged in securities brokerage and margin
financing. The Company operates its business through five segments.
The Securities Brokerage and Margin Financing segment is engaged in
securities brokerage and margin financing in Hong Kong. The Money
Lending segment is engaged in the provision of money lending services
in Hong Kong. The Corporate Finance segment is engaged in the
provision of corporate finance services. The Asset Management segment
is engaged in the provision of asset management and advisory services
and financial investment management to professional investors. The
Consultancy and Insurance Brokerage segment is engaged in the
provision of consultancy services and insurance brokerage services in
Hong Kong. No dividend was received for the year ended 30 June
2022. According to its latest published financial statements, it had a net
asset value of approximately HK$247,859,000 as at 31 March 2022.

Dingyi Group Investment Limited is an investment holding company
principally engaged in the business of loan financing. Together with its
subsidiaries, the Company operates business through its five segments.
The Loan Financing Business segment is involved in the loan financing
through its surplus funds. The Properties Development Business segment
is involved in the construction and sale of properties. The Food and
Beverages Business segment is involved in the operation of a restaurant
in Beijing, China. The Securities Trading Business segment is involved in
the investment of securities trading business. Together with the Other
Business segment. In addition, the Company is also involved in the
trading of wine. No dividend was received for the year ended 30 June
2022. According to its latest published financial statements, it had a net
asset value of approximately HK$1,474,595,000 as at 31 March 2022.

Wai Chun Group Holdings Limited is an investment holding company
mainly engaged in the sale of mobile phones and electronic
components. Along with subsidiaries, the Company operates its business
through three segments. The General Trading segment is engaged in the
distribution of mobile phones and electronic components. The Service
Income segment is involved in the design, consultation and
manufacturing of information system software and provides related
management training services. The Sales and Integrated Services segment
is engaged in the sale of computer and communication systems and
provides related integration services. In addition, the Company also
provides telecommunications infrastructure solution services. No dividend
was received for the year ended 30 June 2022. According to its latest
published financial statements, it had net liabilities of approximately
HK$184,100,000 as at 31 March 2022.

Hang Sang (Siu Po) International Holding Company Limited is an
investment holding company. The Company is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sale of apparel labels and packaging printing
products. The Company’s products include hangtags, size tapes, labels,
such as woven labels, heat transfer labels and printed labels, header
cards, stickers, price tickets, plastic packaging bags and packaging
boxes. Its subsidiaries include Hang Sang (Siu Po) Holding Limited, Hang
Sang (Siu Po) Press Company Limited and A W Printing & Packaging
Limited. No dividend income was received for the year ended 30 June
2022. According to its latest published financial statements, it had a net
asset value of approximately HK$72,966,000 as at 31 December 2021.
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EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had 60 (2021: 39) employees. The
Group implements remuneration policy, bonus and share option
scheme to ensure that pay scales of its employees are rewarded
on a performance related basis within the general framework of
the Group’s remuneration.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP ASSETS

As at 30 June 2022, the bank loans of approximately
HK$67,657,000 were secured by (i) the car parking spaces with
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$191,900,000; (ii)
a deed of assignment of rental income from the car parking
spaces; (iii) the keyman insurance contract classified under the
investments at fair value through profit or loss with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$18,160,000; and (iv)
personal guarantee from a director of the Company.

DIVIDEND

The directors of the Company do not recommend or declare the
payment of any dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June
2022 (2021: Nil).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group conducted most of its business in Great British Pound,
Euro, Renminbi, United States Dollar, Nepalese Rupee and Hong
Kong Dollars for the year ended 30 June 2022. The Group has
transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from the
business operations in the PRC denominated in RMB. As at
30 June 2022, the Group had a minimal exposure to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions were principally
denominated in the respective functional currencies used by the
respective group entities.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of its foreign currency assets and liabilities. The Group will
closely monitor its foreign currency exposure and will consider
using hedging instruments in respect of significant foreign
currency exposure as and when appropriate.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2022, the directors of the Company are not aware
of any material contingent liabilities (2021: Nil).

Yeung Chi Hang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 February 2023
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, aged 44, was appointed as Executive
Director on 16 January 2014. Mr. Yeung was also appointed as
the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company on
27 January 2015. Mr. Yeung is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Mr. Yeung studied at Camosun College, Canada and
has over 10 years of experience in investment, hotel management
and in operating entertainment businesses.

Mr. Leung Kwong Choi, aged 66, was appointed as Executive
Director on 6 October 2008. He is also the Chairman of the
investment committee of the Company. Mr. Leung holds a
Bachelor of Social Science Degree from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. He had been working for 10 years in the marketing
department of Hang Lung Development Ltd. since graduation. Mr.
Leung had also served the positions of executive director of Top
Glory International Holdings Limited, China Foods Limited, Cheung
Tai Hong Holdings Limited, and an independent non-executive
director of Top Spring International Holdings Limited (stock code:
3688), all of which are companies with shares listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Leung has over 28 years of
real estate and business experience in Hong Kong and Mainland
China concentrating in property investment and development,
acquisition and merger, deal marking and investment projects
arrangement. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Rainbow Digital Commercial Co., Ltd. (stock code:
002419S7) and Smartac International Holdings Limited (former
stock code: 395 and listing cancelled on 20 February 2023) with
effect from 19 September 2019 and 31 March 2022 respectively.

Mr. Wong Po Keung, aged 52, was appointed as Executive
Director on 30 September 2013. He is also the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company, the financial controller and a
member of the investment committee of the Company. Mr. Wong
holds a Master degree in business administration from the
University of South Australia. He is a fellow member of both the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has ample
experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and
company secretarial practices in respect of listed companies. He
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of FSM
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1721) with effect from 8 April
2020.
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Mr. Chung Siu Wah, aged 66, was appointed as Executive
Director on 14 August 2014. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chung started his career in 1976
by joining the Hong Kong Government as a Customs Inspector. He
obtained his law degree with honour at the University of London
in 1986 and further obtained his Postgraduate Certificate of Laws
at University of Hong Kong in 1987. He resigned from the
Customs and Excise Department in 1987 and started his legal
career. He has been a solicitor practicing in Hong Kong since
1989. He joined Messer. Tony Kan & Co. in 1987 and became a
partner in 1992. He retired from the partnership in 2004 but
continues to associate with the law firm as a consultant till now.
Mr. Chung has over 8 years of experience in the hotel, gaming
and entertainment industry. Mr. Chung has also experience in the
management of listed company in Hong Kong. He was appointed
as an executive director of Daido Group Limited (stock code: 544)
for the period from 9 September 2011 to 5 August 2013.

Mr. Chik To Pan, aged 44, was appointed as Executive Director
on 15 April 2016. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Chik has wide experience in licensing of
karaoke music products, operating entertainment businesses and
wedding service businesses. Mr. Chik has also experience in the
management of listed company in Hong Kong. He was appointed
as an executive director of United Power Investment Limited (now
named as China Tangshang Holdings Limited) (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 674) for the
period from 8 March 2005 to 24 January 2008.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang, aged 70, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 2 March 2009. He is also
a member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong had been an
Independent Non-executive Director, member of audit committee
and member of remuneration committee of the Company since
3 July 2002. He resigned on 4 July 2008 as he himself had a long
term personal assignment stationed in Shanghai. Mr. Wong had
completed his assignment in Shanghai and returned to Hong
Kong. He holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from the
University of Hong Kong. He is a property consultant and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators
and the Australian Institute of Building respectively.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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Mr. Ong Chi King, aged 49, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director on 27 January 2014. He is also the
chairman of audit committee, nomination committee and
remuneration committee. Mr. Ong is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Ong
received a bachelor's degree in business administration from The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a master’s
degree in corporate finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University.

Mr. Ong has more than 20 years of experience in accounting,
finance and company secretarial fields and held senior positions in
finance and company secretarial departments in various listed
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Currently, he is a director of a consultancy firm providing
accounting and compliance services and also a director of a
construction group in Hong Kong. He resigned as an executive
director of Smart City Development Holdings Limited (stock code:
8268) with effect from 29 July 2019. He resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Larry Jewelry International
Company Limited (former stock code: 8351 and listing cancelled
on 15 December 2021) with effect from 1 October 2019.

Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric, aged 55, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director on 16 January 2015. He is
also a member of audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee. He is a qualified solicitor admitted to the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong and a Civil Celebrant of Marriages.
Mr. Heung received a bachelor’s degree in Law from University of
Leicester England. He has more than 22 years of experience in the
legal profession. Mr. Heung is presently a partner of Messrs. Wong
Heung Sum & Lawyers, consultant of Messrs. Tung, Ng, Tse &
Lam, Solicitors, director of Lions Club of Kwai Tsing HKSAR,
committee legal adviser of the Association of the Hong Kong
Members of Shandong’s Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, executive committee member of Basic Law Institute
Limited, Honorary President of Hong Kong Guangxi Beihai City
Friendship Association Limited Standing Council and committee
member of USRC Standing Disciplinary. He was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Gold Tat Group
International Limited (now known as Zhuoxin International
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8266) for the period from
18 August 2000 to 3 March 2015. He resigned as an independent
non-executive director of Zhong Fa Zhan Holdings Limited (stock
code: 475) and WE Solutions Limited (Stock Code: 860) with
effect from 20 October 2017 and 17 December 2018 respectively.

Note: The Group’s businesses are under the direct responsibility of the above
executive directors who are the senior management of the Company.
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Report of the Directors

E%éiﬁii

The Board has pleasure to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in metal recycle business, motor and
motor accessories business, car parking spaces rental, money
lending business, golden flower tea products trading, securities
trading and investment business. The Group also maintains the
green businesses of research, development and application of
technologies and solutions, manufacture, sale and trading of
products, materials, systems and services for green market
segments including the environmental markets, agricultural
markets, organic markets, green technology markets in the PRC
and overseas.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 138 to
139.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 58 to 59.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group and an analysis of the Group’s
performance during the vyear using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 15 of this annual report.

Description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing can be found in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and Note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 89 to 95 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group puts great emphasis on environmental protection and
sustainable development. The conscientious use of resources and
the adoption of best practices across the Group’s businesses
underlie its commitment to safeguarding the environment. The
Group encourages environmental protection, complies with
environmental legislations and promotes awareness towards
environmental protection to its employees. Several measures have
been implemented by the Group in order to promote
environmental protection, including, among others:

(i)  promoting energy saving by encouraging its staff to switch
off all air-conditioners and lightings before leaving the
office, and to utilize the timer-control function of all air-
conditioning systems;

(i) reducing energy consumption by using energy-saving light
bulbs in the corridors and the reception area of its offices;

(iii)  promoting recycling by placing recycle bins next to printers
for collecting used papers for reusing and recycling
purposes, and by encouraging two-sided printing and/or the
use of scratch papers; and

(iv) reducing the use of disposable products by, for example,
cancelling the distribution of plastic bags in office.

The report of Environmental, Social and Governance of the Group
will be available at the HKEXnews website of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk), Singapore
Exchange Limited (www.sgx.com) and Company’s website
(www.cergroup.com.hk).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2022 and up to the date of this
report, the Group have complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations in the Mainland China and Hong Kong that have a
significant impact on the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 64.8% of the total sales
for the year and the sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 41.8%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 85.1% of the total
purchases for the year and the purchase from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 50.6%.

20 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

RIEREBR

AEESEERRRRERUFTERRE -
KEBEEFZRERE IEA%?Z%E&EP&
BEFEAERERDREEE - N & B & E
%i%{%E%&L—riﬁfﬁfffﬁll . ‘%ﬁ?ﬁ%—ﬁ/z@\
H’]iﬁiﬁf%%f;%k AEBBEHRDSE FTRE

RIBRE BEETER :

() BEZBEIBMARAERMEAMA
ZRREHATA LA&FFrﬁ SRS
15 1 7€ B ) BE 1 A Hfi RE

(i) BERNEBEBRAZESREEAE
BE R ORIR A BETRB T

(i) BB N 18 N E O R W&
ARRER  AHERRERLDH - A
RSB B T EN Ko, S R RE AL (R 3
BERAMA &

(V) R ER—REES  MECEER A
TRBBRLE -

AEEZEE  HEREAREETHR

EARGRBEMERARKES B

(www.hkexnews.hk) « #7110 3% 2 5 FT B R
A A4 s (www.sgx.com) N AR A T 48 uh
(www.cergroup.com.hk) °
BrERRER

REBEE2_ZE-_—FNA=Z1+BIEFEKHE
EAREHE  AEBEETHALEES

Kl

BEARENTREKRERBESNEMREE
BNER -

FTEEFRRILER

REBFA AEBERAATFEER

EARFE A EREL64.8% @ EFREZEA
BEEEEEA18% - REE B T A FEFﬁ
R RBEN A FEAEEELSS1% @ &
e &AM EEEEE4506% °

2022 Annual Report



Report of the Directors

ESZEREE

None of Directors, any of their associates or any substantial
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five
largest suppliers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group’'s management policies, working environment, career
prospects and employees’ benefits have contributed to building a
good employee relations and employee retention of the Group.

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
commensurate with industry practice and provides various fringe
benefits to employees including medical benefits, social insurance,
provident funds, bonuses and a share option scheme. The
management regularly reviews its employee’s remuneration
packages to ensure they are up to prevailing market standard. The
Group keeps a high standard in selecting reputable and reliable
suppliers, in order to meet our own quality, safety, environmental
and product criteria. During the year ended 30 June 2022 and up
to the date of this report, the Group maintained good relationship
with its suppliers. The Group has a well-established business
relationship with the customers.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend or declare the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement of the
shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Wednesday, 29 March 2023 to Monday, 3 April 2023
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of share(s)
will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting, all transfers documents, accompanied by
the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with Union
Registrars Limited, the branch share registrar and transfer office of
the Company in Hong Kong, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F., Two
Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's Road, North Point, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
28 March 2023.

SEGMENTS INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's revenue and contribution to results by
operating segments for the financial year is set out in Note 9 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company and its movements
during the year ended 30 June 2022 are set out in Note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 62.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 June 2022 amounted
to approximately HK$174,084,000. Under section 34 of the
Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium is available for distribution to the Shareholders subject to
the provisions of the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”), and no distribution may be paid to the
Shareholders out of the Company’s share premium unless the
Company shall be able to pay its debt as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the

year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of pledge of assets during the year are set out in Note 19
to the consolidated financial statements.

22 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

;.
AABREBE-_"S-——FXA=+HI1&
EHRAFERESEBERBERNGE VB
WERMFE32 -

& &

95 87 7R 5 1 8 B B A LR 62 B0
AEEBBE -

i

o] 53 ik i 48

AARIR - ZE-_—EXNA=THHA DI
REME#) /2174,084,0008 7T - IRIERSEHS
NAEE (B ET) B3415 - IR mEr ok
FRE HBBTARGMASZIZ AL
(B ERAA]) MBS BRIERRQ R
FHEESBREPIMNIHES  TEIT
BAARRBBRMDEERREELDIR -

YE BERRE

ERNME - BERREZZHFERNE
A BHREME7 -

AEHHA

FR - BEEHRFBIHINRGRESTBIHRE
B sE19 ©

2022 Annual Report



Report of the Directors

ESZEREE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi
Mr. Wong Po Keung
Mr. Chung Siu Wah
Mr. Chik To Pan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang
Mr. Ong Chi King
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, Mr.
Chung Siu Wah and Mr. Ong Chi King being the existing
Directors longest in office since their last re-election, will retire by
rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Company and its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of Independent Non-
executive Director, a written annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

The nomination committee of the Company and the Board
considered that all Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2022, the interests and short positions held by each
Director and chief executive of the Company and their associates
in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporation, if any, (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as
follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

EERRETHRASRKG - HE
B R (B H 2 B

RZBEZZFXNA=1+H ARTIZESE
PESTHRAEMBEE 2BE ARKRQF

jﬁﬁﬁﬁ%/lmmﬂmiﬁ 55 K
E1E0 ([EHRHEEG ) EXVE) 2 %
B HERDREETREAADQRBRE
W%&%f%%%%ﬂwﬁ zﬁﬁﬁaﬁ
ZHEZRER &ﬁﬁimﬁ%%ﬁ+%
HIETRTAZSZETELERINIZE
WUH SFEI)BMEe RAA T&%Q%Z
B REEMT

RAEAT KRG REFKRBZRER

Number of shares/underlying shares
held in the Company

A ATRG ARk HE

Total interests
as to % to the
issued share

Interest under capital as at

Capacity in which Interests in equity Total 30 June 2022

Name of Director interests are held shares  derivatives interests (Note)

RoB-=ZFRX

B=+BHiERgE

} BIEEBTRE

RIBRALTE ZESH

EEEA BAEERZHH fRintEsm IRZER EREE (P &E)

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang Beneficial owner 511,236,000 16,942,817 528,178,817 25.94%
HBEELE ExBEAEA

Mr. Chung Siu Wah Beneficial owner = 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
B E ExBEAEA

Mr. Chik To Pan Beneficial owner = 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
BB R 5T A EmBEAA

Mr. Wong Po Keung Beneficial owner = 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
HIRR LA EmnEAA

Mr. Leung Kwong Choi Beneficial owner o 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.07%
REAFE EmEAA

Mr. Ong Chi King Beneficial owner . 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
T Fak s ExnBEEA

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang Beneficial owner . 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
FEEELE ExBEAEA

Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric Beneficial owner o 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
BEEELRE ExBEAA

Note:

The percentage of shareholding was calculated on the basis of the Company’s

issued share capital of 2,036,538,114 shares as at 30 June 2022.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2022, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates had any other personal, family, corporate and other
interests or short positions in shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a
share option scheme on 11 November 2015 (the “2015 Share
Option Scheme”).

Details of the 2015 Share Option Scheme are as follows:
(@) Purpose of the 2015 Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the 2015 Share Option Scheme is to provide
the Group with a flexible means of giving incentive to,
rewarding, remunerating and/or providing benefits to the
eligible persons and to provide the eligible persons with all
opportunity to acquire a personal stake in the Group and to
build common objectives of the Group and the eligible
persons for the betterment of business and profitability of
the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

Eligible persons means: (a) any eligible employee; (b) any
non-executive director (including any independent non-
executive director) of the Company, any subsidiary or any
invested entity; (c) chief executive or any substantial
shareholder of the Company; (d) any consultant or
professional advisor to the Company, any subsidiary or any
invested entity; (e) any associate of director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company; or (f) any
discretionary object of a discretionary trust established by
any of the above-mentioned persons.

(b) Who may join
The Board may, at its discretion, invite any eligible persons

to take up options at a price calculated in accordance with
sub-paragraph (g) below.
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(c)

(d)

26

Upon acceptance of the option, the eligible person shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration for the
grant. The option will be offered for acceptance for such
period as may be determined by the Board.

Total number of shares of the Company available
for issue

The Company refreshed the scheme mandate limit at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
29 July 2016 (the “2016 EGM”) and at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 11 December 2020 (the
“2020 AGM").

At the 2020 AGM, an ordinary resolution was passed by the
shareholders of the Company approving the refreshment of
the Scheme Mandate Limit and the Company was allowed to
grant options up to 203,653,811 shares, which is equivalent
to approximately 10% of the aggregate number of the
issued Shares at the date of the 2020 AGM and as at 1 July
2021 and 30 June 2022.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of the shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to a participant under
the 2015 Share Option Scheme (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue from time to time,
provided that if approved by shareholders in general meeting
with such participant and his associates abstaining from
voting, the Company may make a further grant to such
participant.

In relation to the further grant, the Company shall send a
circular to the shareholders, which discloses the identity of
the relevant participant, the number and the terms of the
options to be granted (and options previously granted to
such participant under the 2015 Share Option Scheme and
other scheme) and the information required under the
Listing Rules. The number and terms (including the exercise
price) of options which is the subject of the further grant
shall be fixed before the relevant shareholders’ approval and
the date of meeting of the Board meeting for proposing the
further grant should be taken as the date of grant for the
purpose of calculating the relevant subscription price.
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(e)

(f)

(9)

Period of the 2015 Share Option Scheme

The 2015 Share Option Scheme will remain valid for a
period of 10 years commencing on the date of
11 November 2015 after which period no further options
may be granted but the provisions of the 2015 Share Option
Scheme shall remain in all other respects in full force and
effect in respect of any options granted prior thereto but
not yet exercised at the time of termination, which shall
continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms of
grant.

Time of exercise of option

Unless the Board determines otherwise, an option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the 2015 Share
Option Scheme at any time during which shall not exceed
10 years from the date upon which the option is deemed to
be granted and accepted. The 2015 Share Option Scheme
does not require a minimum period for which an option
must be held or a performance target which must be
achieved before an option can be exercised.

Price of the shares

The subscription price for the shares subject to options will
be a price determined by the Board and notified to each
participant and will be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares on the Main Board as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the Option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the shares on the Main Board as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of a share.
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The following table set out movements in the Company's share FXRHIIBE T —AFEREFEE R
options granted under the 2015 Share Options Scheme during the H 2 &R Tﬁﬁﬁx%fﬁ’\i W&
year:

Number of Share Options

BREYE
Exercise As at As at
Capacity Date of Grant price Exercisable period 1 July 2021 Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed 30 June 2022
Rz S_ RZB-Z%
a4 REBH fTfEf 78 -H ERf Effff E#E EX¥ #A=t1H
Executive Directors
YiTES
Yeung Chi Hang 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 = = = — 14,142,817
BEE “E-AFNAZTZR 3 Rﬁ@ﬂ = Bi
— 7 7/\ ¢ m H +
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 20184 June 2028 2,800,000 = - s — 2,800,000
“E-\FXAEA T \ERAREE
ZEZ\E~AEA
Chung Siu Wah 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 - = — — 14142817
BE ZZ-EEA=TZH “F-R~EMA-TZBZE
“E-NFMAZ+-H
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 20184 June 2028 2,800,000 = = = — 2,800,000
“Z2-\fXAAA —Z- Aiﬂﬂﬂai
ZZZN\ERAEA
Chik To Pan 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 = G - — 14,142,817
REH “E-AFEAZTCR “E-AFEA-4ZRE
ZBIRERAZT-H
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 2,800,000 — s a - 2,800,000
“Z-\FRARA “E-\ERARAE
2§/ ARA
Wong Po Keung 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 = = = — 14,142,817
BER% ZE-R"ENAZtZA Z /\ﬁll{]ﬂ +=
=% 7/\¢EH +
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 20184 June 2028 2,800,000 - = s — 2,800,000
ZE-\E£XALH T \ERAREE
ZEZ\EXAEA
Leung Kwon Choi 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 1,500,000 — — - — 1,500,000
RET “Z-\FXARA - \fExARAE
2 \$5RARA
Independent Non-executive Directors
BUkNTES
Ong Chi King 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 20184 June 2028 1,000,000 = = = — 1,000,000
TFH ZZ-N\§5AEA -F- /\izxﬂﬂﬁi
ZEZN\ERAEA
Wong Kwai Sang 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 1,000,000 = - — - 1,000,000
B8 “E-\FXAEA T \ERAREE
ZEZ\EXAEA
Heung Chee Hang, Eric 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 1,000,000 . - ™ . 1,000,000
PRl “Z-\FXARA - \ExARAE
2 \$5ARA
Employees
EI
An employee 22 ApriI 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 14,142,817 = = = — 14,142,817
—£8T1 2 EmA=t+ZA Z Rﬁ@ﬂ a2 BI
=% 7/\ ¢ m H +
Employees 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 18,700,000 - — — — 18,700,000
8T “F-\FAARH “E-N\EAARAE
ZEZN\E~AEA
105,114,085 = -3 = — 105,114,085
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The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the
date of grant of the options were HK$0.202 and HK$0.320 on
22 April 2016 and 5 June 2018 respectively.

As at 30 June 2022, options to subscribe for an aggregate of
105,114,085 shares of the Company were outstanding,
representing 5.16% of the shares in issue of the Company as at
30 June 2022 and the date of this report.

Save as disclosed above, no option was granted,
cancelled or lapsed during the year.

exercised,

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2022, the following persons, other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company, were interested or had short
positions in more than 5% of shares and underlying shares of the
Company or its subsidiaries according to the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:

RZE—ARFNA-_+-_BHE=_FT—N\F
NARB KA %Tﬁz%ﬂx%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁu
Z Rt W B o Bl £0.2027% 7T K0.320%8
—

R-ZE-__F,A=+8" 7NN
m/\105114085ﬁxﬂxf zﬁﬁﬂﬂ RIET
F AR RR_E_—_FA=Z=+HK

i o =] ﬁﬁSﬂG%E%TTHXT’ﬁ °

BEXFBEESN  MEBRENFRE
B 176 SRR

FERRRIxG  HEARG REH
ZHEm

RIEFES MGG E336IKBFEZER
ft RZZTE-_—FXA=+B U AL
(PIEBFEXARAEZBTRAE)RAR
RIENB AR 2D RBBRDTHES
5% E 7 ERKERNT

Capacity in which

Number of shares/underlying shares
held in the Company
FFASRG HEAKSHE
Total interest as to
% to the issued
share capital as at
30 June 2022

Name of shareholders interests are held Interest in shares Total interest (Note)
e 2 ) < |
=+ BRESEEN
ERTREAZES

BREES BE#ESzSh B inHELS Eix@m Lk (B &E)

Mr. Chu Ying Man Beneficial Owner 135,000,000 135,000,000 6.63%

REX R E ExnBEEA

Note: Kz -

The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company’s issued
share capital of 2,036,538,114 shares as at 30 June 2022.

BREAILE T —_FA=1+THARREET
% 752,036,538,1140% A & E -
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for 2015 Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time
during the year, was the Company or any of its associated
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate and
none of the Directors or their spouses or children under 18 years
of age was granted any right to subscribe for any shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any of its associated corporations.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, there were no transactions which need to be
disclosed as connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed "continuing connected
transaction”, no transactions, arrangement or contracts of
significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance, to which the Company or any its
subsidiaries was a party in which a Shareholder had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

The Board believes during the year ended 30 June 2022, the
Directors did not have interests in any businesses which compete
or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed
securities on the Stock Exchange.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had 60 employees (2021: 39
employees). The Group implements remuneration policy, bonus
and share options scheme to ensure that pay scales of its
employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis within the
general framework of the Group’s remuneration.

DONATIONS
the Group did not make any charitable

During the year,
donations.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as disclosed in the Annual
Report, no equity-linked agreement was entered during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director, in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal,
in which judgment is given in his favor, or in which he is
acquitted. The Company has taken out insurance against the
liability and costs associated with defending any proceedings
which may be brought against Directors of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained
enough public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of Directors.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2022 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited as auditors of the Company. A resolution will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
reappoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as auditors of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
Yeung Chi Hang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 February 2023
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The Board is committed to maintain and ensure high standards of
corporate governance practice. The Company stresses the
importance of maintaining the quality of the Board by ensuring
that the Directors possess a wide range of expertise and the
effective implementation of an accountability system, so as to
ensure that business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper manner.

The Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rule Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) for the year ended
30 June 2022, except the followings:

Code provisions A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman of the board and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. This code
provisions also stipulate, inter alia, the role and responsibility of
the chairman of the board and the chief executive.

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang was appointed as chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company on 27 January 2015.
Thereafter, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang has assumed both roles. The
directors were of the view that the vesting of the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer in the same
person can provide the Group with strong and consistent
leadership and allow for more effective planning and execution of
long-term business strategies, as well as ensuring effective
oversight of management. The directors were also of the view that
the present structure was considered to be appropriate under the
circumstances of the Company. The Board would keep review of
its current board structure from time to time.

The Corporate Governance Code had been amended effective on
1 January 2022 (the “"New CG Code”), and the amendments apply
to fiscal year beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Major
amendments of the New CG Code includes the alignment of the
Company’s culture with its purpose, values and strategy,
establishment of anti-corruption and whistleblowing policies, board
independence and diversity or its members, communication with
shareholders, publication of environmental, social and governance
reports at the same time as publication of annual reports, and re-
arrangement of the disclosure requirements of the corporate
governance code. To strengthen and enhance the highest level of
corporate governance practices and conduct, the Company had
adopted the code provisions under the New CG Code. As this
report relates to the financial year 2021, the numbering of code
provision in the report follow the code provision of the CG Code
before the New CG Code came into effect.
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THE BOARD

The Board is charged with the responsibility of leadership and
control of the Group. The Board promotes success of the Group
and makes decisions objectively in the best interests of the Group.

The Board'’s role is mainly to direct and supervise the affairs of the
Group, establish its strategic directions and set objectives and
business development plans. The Board authorizes the
management to manage the day-to-day business operation of the
Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the various Board committees and the Chief
Executive Officer.

The Company has developed a schedule of matters reserved to the
Board for decisions. The Board will review those arrangements on
a regular basis to ensure that the arrangements meet the needs of
the Company.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises eight Directors with five Executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, Mr. Leung Kwong Choi, Mr. Wong
Po Keung, Mr. Chung Siu Wah and Mr. Chik To Pan and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Kwai
Sang, Mr. Ong Chi King and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric. There
was no change in the composition of the Board during the year.

During the year, the Board held 4 regular meetings, and if
necessary, had also transacted its business by written resolutions.
The Directors participated these meetings in person or through
electronic means of communication. The attendance of Board
meetings of each Director during the year is set out as below:

EEE

EZQREREREEARER REAE
BRI MAHASESANNT A TEHL
TEH B IRE ©

EZgNIZREAKEREELAEES
%o AT RBE TR WaREBRRERH
Ritd ZEZSRBEEEEEASEN
AEEXBEE - M EFTENEEZE
EXZBeRTRAHAERER TR -

ARBERL—RBEFREFTGRENSE
BR-EZQREHRTZETLH  AE
FEBLZHTEARARANFTE -

EFET2AM

ExeRBA N \REFTEAX  RERNT
EEHEERE REA L BERAL
FELOBRERBERAEER=RBL
FHMTEEEEERLE EFHEERSE
SERE -FR EFQ@CEXTEZES -

RER BEFGHBTOMAEREZ T
RHEEEEAEAARABREEESER -EF
BEABEBETRAATA2EZETEH -
BREERNFALFESTSSRNBERHET
R :

Name of Directors

Number of Board meetings
attended/Number of Board
meetings held

EHFESEERRY

EEHE EETEEFERRY
Executive Directors BITESE

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang mEELEE 4/4
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RESFE 4/4
Mr. Wong Po Keung EIRE ST AE 4/4
Mr. Chung Siu Wah B RESE 4/4
Mr. Chik To Pan B8 R 5 A 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUAKPITES

Mr. Ong Chi King FFEEE 4/4
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang mEESLE 4/4
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric B E L 3/4
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The Directors are provided with relevant information to make
informed decisions. The Board and each Director have separate
and independent access to the Company’s senior management for
information and making enquires if necessary. A Director, who
considers there is necessary to seek independent professional
advice in order to perform his duties as a Director, may convene,
or request the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) to convene, a Board meeting to approve the
consultation of independent legal or other professional adviser for
advice at the Company’s expenses.

For regular Board meeting, a notice of the meeting is sent to all
Directors at least 14 days before the intended date of meeting
and an agenda and accompanying board papers of the meeting
are sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended
date of meeting. For all other Board meeting, a notice of the
meeting together with an agenda and accompanying board papers
of the meeting are sent to all Directors in reasonable time. The
Directors also from time to time transact the Board business by
way of written resolutions.

Every Director is entitled to have access to the advice and service
of the Company Secretary with a view to ensure that the Board
procedures and applicable rules and regulations are complied
with.

All minutes are kept by the Company and are open for
inspections by any Director during normal office hours by giving
reasonable advance notice. Minutes of the Board meetings and the
Board committee meetings record in sufficient details the matters
considered in the meetings and decisions reached. Draft and final
versions of minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee
meetings have been sent to all Directors and relevant Board
Committee members for their comments and records respectively
within a reasonable time after the relevant meetings were held.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter before the
Board, the matter will be dealt with in accordance with applicable
rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent board
committee will be set up to deal with the matter.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s) between
the members of the Board. Every Director has sufficient time and
attention to deal with the affairs of the Group. The Board
considers the composition of Executive Directors and Independent
Non-executive Directors is rational and appropriate and provides
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and the Group.
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The Independent Non-executive Directors provide the Group with
diversified knowledge and expertise. Their suggestions, opinions
and participation in the meetings of the Board and each Board
committee bring independent opinions, suggestions and judgments
on issues relating to the Group’s strategy, development,
operations, performance, risk control and conflicts of interest, to
ensure that the interest of all shareholders are taken into account.
Information and responsibilities of all Directors are contained in
this annual report on pages 16 to 18.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer have
different roles. The Chairman of the Board is responsible for the
operation of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for managing the operations and day-to-day
management of the Group. Their functions have been clearly
divided to ensure a balanced distribution of power and authority
not concentrating on a single individual.

The Chairman of the Board is principally responsible for leading
the Board and ensures the Board acts in the best interests of the
Company. The Chairman of the Board shall ensure the Board
operates effectively and performs its proper duties and discusses
all important and proper matters in a timely manner. The
Chairman of the Board is responsible for convening Board
meetings, consulting, determining and approving the agenda of
each Board meeting, and ensuring that Directors are provided
sufficient information on current matters in a timely manner.

The Chief Executive Officer is principally responsible for the daily
operation and management of the Group’s overall operations and
implementing the Board’s operating strategy and policy and
delegating tasks to all departments for implementation so as to
realize the Board’s objectives and decisions. In addition, the Chief
Executive Officer is also responsible for coordinating close
cooperation among all departments, uniting efforts of staff and
encouraging the initiative of staff so as to ensure smooth and
effective operation of the Company’s operations and systems.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provide that the role of
chairman of the board and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. This code
provisions also stipulate, inter alia, the role and responsibility of
the chairman of the board and the chief executive.

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang was appointed as Chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer of the Company on 27 January
2015. Thereafter, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang has therefore assumed
both roles.
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The Directors were of the view that the vesting of the roles of
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer in the same
person can provide the Group with strong and consistent
leadership and allow for more effective planning and execution of
long-term business strangles, as well as ensuring effective
oversight of management. The Directors were also of the view
that the present structure was considered to be appropriate under
the circumstances of the Company. The Board would keep review
of its current Board structure from time to time.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the CG Code and the Articles of Association,
all Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors, are
subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

Composition of the Board will be reviewed regularly by the Board
and also by the nomination committee of the Company to ensure
that it covers a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.

Pursuant to the Article of Association, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, Mr.
Chung Siu Wah and Mr. Ong Chi King being the existing
Directors longest in office since their last re-election, will retire by
rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Each Director had entered into an appointment letter with the
Company setting out the key terms and conditions of his
appointment. The Directors are required to refer to the relevant
key terms and conditions as set out in the Articles and Association
and the guidelines for Directors and Guide for Independent Non-
executive Directors (if applicable) published by the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

All Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term, subject to retirement by rotation under the Articles
of Association. The term of office of Mr. Wong Kwai Sang, Mr.
Ong Chi King and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric as Independent
Non-executive Director is for three years until 1 March 2024,
26 January 2026 and 15 January 2024 respectively.

The Board has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director a written annual confirmation of his independence and is
satisfied with their independence in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and are independent to the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an audit committee (the *“Audit
Committee”) with the term of references in accordance with the
Listing Rules. The Audit Committee currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ong Chi King
(Chairman), Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.
Mr. Ong Chi King has appropriate accounting and related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee includes:

1. to recommend to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of such auditor;

2. to consider and discuss with the external auditor the nature
and scope of audit for each year;

3 to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity;

4, to review the interim and annual financial statements before
submission to the Board and to discuss any problem and
reservation arising therefrom;

5. to review the Group's financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems; and

6. to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

During the year, the Audit Committee had reviewed and
discussed, in accordance with its terms of reference, the financial
reporting matters with external auditor, including the review of
the interim and annual consolidated financial statements, the
internal control and the audit fee and made recommendation to
the Board for reappointment of external auditor.
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During the vyear, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings. The
attendance of Audit Committee meetings of each member is set
out below:

TR BEERZEGRTMAEH - EKE
hEEZZEEGRBRAHAINOT

Name of the Audit Committee Members

Number of Audit Committee
meetings attended/Number of
Audit Committee meetings held
EHEERESTERARY
ERTERESEEHRAN

BEZZEERERSE

Mr. Ong Chi King FFRREE
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang mEESLLE
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric EEfELE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with the term of references in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ong Chi King (Chairman), Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee (as adopted
pursuant to the terms of references of the Remuneration
Committee) includes making recommendations to the Board on the
Company's policy and structure of all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for development of remuneration

policy.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Remuneration
Committee done during the year:

1. to review the Company’s emolument policy and structure for
all Directors;
2. to review management’s remuneration proposal with

reference to the corporate goals and objective of the Board;
and

3. to recommend the remuneration of individual Executive

Director and Independent Non-executive Director.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting.
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The attendance of Remuneration Committee meeting of each
member is set out below:

EREHFEFHNEZESERBERAFIIMT

Name of the Remuneration
Committee Members

FWESERENSE

Number of Remuneration
Committee meetings attended/
Number of Remuneration
Committee meetings held
EHEFGFWNESSERRY
ERTHMNESTERAE

Mr. Ong Chi King FFAREE
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEEALE
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric EEELEE

The Company’s emolument policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Executive Directors
and the senior management, is based on the skills, knowledge,
responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs. The
remuneration packages are also determined by reference to the
Company’s performance and profitability, remuneration level in the
industry and the prevailing market conditions. The emolument
policy for Independent Non-executive Directors, mainly comprising
Directors’ fees, is subject to annual assessment with reference to
the market standard. Individual Director and the senior
management would not be involved in deciding their own
remuneration.

Details of emoluments of Directors and the five highest-paid
employees of the Group during the year are set out in Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) with the term of references in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ong Chi King (Chairman), Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee includes review
of the structure, size and composition of the Board and board
diversity policy on a regular basis, assessing new candidates for
appointment as Directors and the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors and considering the retirement and re-
election of the Directors.
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Set out below is the summary of work of the Nomination
Committee done during the year:

1. to assess the independence of each Independent Non-

executive Director;

2. to review the structure, size and composition of the Board;

NTHINREZEERFRNTHH TIER
B ¢

1. FHESEIFRITESNE LI

2. BMHENEBEFEHRE - ABRANK: R

and
3.  to make the recommendation of re-election of retiing 3. BERBRITEEREESRMEES -
Directors to the Board.
During the year, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting. The F®R G RHEZESRIT—XNEZ - SKE
attendance of Nomination Committee meeting of each member is HFREZEZESSHBERHIMOT ¢
set out below:
Number of Nomination
Committee meetings attended/
Name of the Nomination Committee Number of Nomination
Members Committee meetings held
EHFEREZESETEHARE
REZEEHERSZ EETREZESTETFHRARE
Mr. Ong Chi King FFAREE 11
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang mEESLE 11
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEELE 11
NOMINATION POLICY R B BR

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and procedure of
appointing and re-appointing a Director. The selection criteria
used in assessing the suitability of a candidate include, inter alia,
such candidate’s academic background and professional
qualifications, relevant experience in the industry, character and
integrity etc.

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the nomination committee
reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board
periodically and make recommendation on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.
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When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an
additional director, the nomination committee identifies or selects
candidates as recommended to the committee pursuant to the
criteria set out in the Nomination Policy. Based upon the
recommendation of the nomination committee, the Board
deliberates and decides on the appointment. In addition, every
director shall be subject to retirement by rotation or re-election at
least once every three years and shall be eligible for re-election at
each annual general meeting. The nomination committee shall
review the overall contribution and service to the Company,
expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring directors,
who offered himself/herself for re-election at the annual general
meeting, to determine whether such director continues to meet
the criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands and the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company,
dividends may be paid out of the profits of the Company, or
subject to solvency of the Company, out of sums standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company. However,
no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by Directors of
the Company.

Declaration and recommendation of payment of dividends of the
Company is subject to the approval of the Directors of the
Company, depending on results of operations, working capital,
financial position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as
well as any other factors which the Directors of the Company may
consider relevant from time to time. Any future declaration,
recommendation and payment of dividends of the Company may
or may not reflect the historical declarations and payments of
dividends and will be at the absolute discretion of the Directors of
the Company. The Company does not have any predetermined
dividend payout ratio.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential
element in maintaining a competitive advantage. The Company has
adopted a board diversity policy in 2013.

All appointments of the members of the Board are made on their
merit in the content of the talents, skills and experience to be an
effective Board as a whole.

The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the composition
of the Board by considering the benefits of all aspects of diversity
in order to maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents,
skills, experience and background on the Board.
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The Nomination Committee considers candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board, including age and gender and makes
recommendations to the Board on appointment of new directors
of the Company.

The Nomination Committee also oversees the conduct of the
annual review of the effectiveness of the Board and considers the
balance of talents, skills, experience, independence and knowledge
on the Board and the diversity representation of the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has from time to time considered its policy for
corporate governance and its duties and duties of various board
committees. The Board has not established a corporate
governance committee but has performed the obligations
regarding corporate governance, including:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

3 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4.  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors;
and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14
(Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report) of the Listing Rules.

The Directors have disclosed to the Board the number and nature
of offices held in public companies or organizations and other
signification commitments. The Board will regularly review the
contribution required by each Director to perform his
responsibilities to the Company and whether he is spending
sufficient time performing his duties.
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TRAINING OF DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Director, if any, are provided with necessary
information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities
under the relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The
Company Secretary and representative of auditor update the
Directors on the latest development and changes regarding the
Listing Rules, accounting standards and other relevant regulatory
requirements from time to time.

In addition, the Directors are provided with monthly updates on
the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. According to the records provided by the existing
Directors, all Directors have participated in continuous professional
development during the year.
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Reading regulatory
updates/attending
in house briefing

Name of Directors

Attending expert
briefing/seminars/
conference relevant
to the business/
director’s duties

HEARAER

FHEERERTER ESHENERG

EERA HEANBERE HE W18 &
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEELE v/ —
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RETRE v —
Mr. Wong Po Keung BRERE v/ V4
Mr. Chung Siu Wah §E DR & v/ v/
Mr. Chik To Pan BB %k & v —
Mr. Ong Chi King FFaEE v/ v/
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang EEASE v/ —
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEERE v/ v/
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance for all Directors and the senior management of the
Company. The insurance covers them against costs, charges,
expenses and liabilities incurred arising out of the corporate
activities.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s
Code of Conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 30 June 2022.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognizes its overall responsibilities for maintaining a
sound and effective internal control system of the Group and risk
taking is unavoidable as part of the Group’s business. By
appropriate risk management and continuous risk monitoring, risk
taking can bring value to the Company. The Board believes that
risks are acceptable after prudent assessment of their impact and
likelihood. The Company can protect its assets and shareholders’
interests and create value simultaneously through appropriate risks
management and control measures. The system includes a defined
management structure with limits of authority, safeguards its
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensures the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication,
and ensures compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Group recognise that it is necessary for identifying and
assessing the significant business, operational, financial and
compliance risks on an ongoing basis. Risk identification and
assessment should be undertaken throughout the year, but in any
event must be undertaken on an annual basis by the Audit
Committee. Risk identification involves collecting information from
the senior management to identify relevant risks and then need to
update the risk register in response to changes in its business and
the external environment. Risk assessment should include the
review of

(i)  the timely and efficient management and reporting the key
risks; and

(i) any events, incidents or trends that have arisen or might arise.

Risk evaluation and risk prioritization

Risk ranking process involves analysing the inherent likelihood and
impact of each identified risk in order to facilitate the senior
management to prioritise the identified risk items and identify the
responsible risk owners.

Risk reporting, managing and monitoring

Once the decision to mitigate the significant risk has been made
and the strategy is identified, a mitigation plan should be
developed. After the plan is implemented the residual risk is
evaluated and is subject to monitoring. Once the plan is in place
and the system is running, the effectiveness of the plan will be
monitored, reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The ongoing
monitoring program will be checked if risk priority numbers have
changed to either higher or lower values. All employees can write
down observations and to make recommendations. They can also
make a recommendation if the change should be implemented
urgently if it is time critical. The senior management evaluates the
recommendations made by the employees and reports to board in
timely manner.
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Procedures for the handling and dissemination of
inside information

The Group is committed to a consistent practice of time, accurate
and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information. To
ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a
disclosure relation to the Group, procedures for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

1. When any employee becomes aware of any actual or potential
Inside Information, he/she must immediately inform any
member of the Disclosure Working Group comprising the
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Legal
Counsel.

2. Meeting of Disclosure Working Group shall be convened to
conduct preliminary assessment of the information received.

3 The Disclosure Working Group reviews and decides whether
the information must be disclosed, as well as when and how
the information shall be released and makes
recommendation to the Board.

4. The Board reviews the recommendation of the Disclosure
Working Group and approves the issue of an announcement
and any other documents as appropriate.

Main features of the internal control system

A professional advisory firm was also appointed as the Group's
outsourced internal audit function to conduct a review on the
Group’s internal control systems at the corporate level and
business level on certain agreed control areas as stated in a three
year internal control review plan to the management and
endorsed by the board and audit committee.
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The scope of the internal control review carried out during the
year includes:

a) understand how a control procedure is carried out during the
period from 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022 through discussion
with the management, and reading relevant policies and
procedures;

b) consider and comment on whether a control procedure has
been designed and implemented effectively by determining
whether it exists at a specific point in time. This is achieved
by reading policies and procedures, reviewing minutes,
reports, organisational charts and other supporting
documentation, and by performing selected walkthrough and
tests of samples;

Q) draw to the Company’s attention to any significant control
design and implementation weaknesses and deficiencies
which come to its attention based on the limited procedures
it agree to perform;

d) provide recommendations to address the identified control
design (in particular to corporate governance and cash
receipt handling policy) and implementation weaknesses and
deficiencies; and

e)  perform a follow-up review after the Company has responded
to the findings stated in the Report. The final Report will be
issued after the follow-up procedures have been completed.

The report and recommendations have been submitted to the
board and follow-up action has been taken based on
recommendations, which will be monitored by the board.

The Audit Committee reviewed adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.

The board’s confirmation on risk management

Based on the risk management mechanism and internal audit
review activities mentioned in the aforesaid paragraphs, the board
was of the opinion that the Company had maintained an effective
risk management mechanism and internal control system during
the financial year ended 30 June 2022.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lo Tai On who has been engaged
and appointed by the Company from an external secretarial
services provider.

The primary contact persons with the Company Secretary are Mr.
Wong Po Keung, an Executive Director and the financial controller
of the Company, and Ms. Leung Siu Hing, a senior officer of the
Company. The Company Secretary has duly complied with the
relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group in
presenting the interim and annual consolidated financial
statements and announcements to the Shareholders. The Directors
aim to present a clear and understandable assessment of the
Group's position and prospects. The Board acknowledges its
responsibility to present a clear and understandable assessment in
the Company’'s annual and interim reports, other inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules and to report to the regulators.

The responsibility of the external auditor with respect to the
financial reporting and its audit opinion are set out in the section
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 53 to 57.

REMUNERATION OF THE AUDITOR

For the year, the remuneration in respect of audit services
provided by auditor of the Company, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited, was HK$980,000.

The non-audit service provided by auditor of the Company is
detailed as follows:
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
the Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to the Shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars.

The general meetings of the Company are valuable forum for the
Board to communicate directly with the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”). The Shareholders are encouraged
to attend the general meetings of the Company.

An annual general meeting of the Company was held on
1 December 2021 (the “2021 AGM”). A notice convening the
2021 AGM contained in a circular of the Company dated
20 October 2021 was dispatched to the Shareholders together
with the 2021 Annual Report.

The attendance of general meeting held during the year of each
Director is set out below:

Bz R E A & 1% & & B &

EZeFrRERRRERFEANER
- AEEEBZEEARE BETH
REEHRE Do RBE - RERKRRRE
HEMAEBNEM -

NG
ES)lig
SRR K

ARABNERAE/REETSHEAR
(RRNEERBBNEETS
B 35 AR B B L AR A Y X

m@*}r%
o D3

ARRER-_ZE-_—F+-_A—BEITK
FRAFRE(ZZE-—FRERFKX
)  ARARBPAE-_ZT-_—F+HF -+
BERBRAFEAH-_ZE-_—FREEAFEK
CvBECHRA S - —F5HR TR
%%%%o
BEEHEFTFARARTZREREHNERLSR
BT

Name of Directors

Number of general meetings
attended/Number of general
meetings held
EHFREXERE
ERTREXERE

EENE

Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEELE
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RESRE
Mr. Wong Po Keung BERBESE
Mr. Chung Siu Wah BAORES g
Mr. Chik To Pan R 38 X 5 A
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAFPITES
Mr. Ong Chi King I%%ﬁ(ﬁ‘ﬁi
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEEESE
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEERLE

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be
held on 3 April 2023 (the “2022 AGM”"). A notice convening
2022 AGM will be published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange, the Singapore Stock Exchange and the Company and
dispatched together with the 2022 Annual Report to the
Shareholders as soon as practicable in accordance with the Article
of Association and the CG Code.

During the year, there was no change in the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
at such place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”). Set out below are
procedures by which Shareholders may (a) convene an EGM; (b)
put forward enquires to the Board; and (c) put forward proposals
at general meetings. The procedures are subject to the Articles of
Association and applicable legislation and regulation.

— Procedures for Shareholders to convene EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the business to be
transacted at the meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and
deposited at the Company’s registered office (with a copy of
the said written requisition deposited at the Company’s
Hong Kong office) for the attention of the Board or the
Company Secretary, and may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. The
requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements under
the Articles of Association to all the registered Shareholders.

If within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as
invalid, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.
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The notice period to be given to all the registered
Shareholders for consideration of the proposal raised by the
requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies according to the
nature of the proposal, as follows:

—  Not less than 14 clear days’ and not less than 10 clear
business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the Company;
and

—  Not less than 21 clear days’ and not less than 10 clear
business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes a special resolution of the Company.

— Procedures for putting enquiries to the Board =

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the
Board.

All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or
by email to info@cergroup.com.hk for the attention of the
Board.

— Procedures for putting forward proposals at —

general meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the
Company, a Shareholder should lodge a written request,
duly signed by the Shareholder concerned, setting out the
proposals at the Company's registered office (with a copy of
the said written request lodged at the Company’s Hong
Kong office) for the attention of the Board and the
Company Secretary. The request will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Company Secretary will pass the request to the Board.

Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be
decided by the Board in its discretion, unless the proposal
put forward by a Shareholder is (i) pursuant to a requisition
by a Shareholder to convene an EGM referred to above or
(ii) forms part of ordinary business to be considered at an
annual general meeting as described in Article 75 of the
Articles of Association.

FAERECRRELBANEKREE
BRERARBERER ARG LAiREE
EHBAMAZZNEEME - 37
ms

— MEZBRAQRR—BILTER
HE AT LPR4ERBE RT
DPRI0EREEHEZEmMBAE
58

— HEBEXKAQE—EERDR
AZE AT LOR2MERA R
SRIOEREXAEEBEA -

MESERHEETANERF
BRAIBERAEESRHIERSH -

FIEEHRANEEEL  IHHFER
NAINBRBE ELE M Bk A FEH
#* Zinfo@cergroup.com.hk @ ¥ B =
2gle

ERERXEREBROERF

MARERRABBRRAGIEHES - K
REXARERER  EHABKREZ
RFEF  BINARER  YRXEAR
AR FER CER L EmEK
MBINERXARBNEERER)
AHEFERAEWEN - AR AW
EERMNEBPECIRERERHR
FoREBRBERBLE RERE

AANERBERRREER -

ERELREEZMRAE KHESFS
BIIEIRE - BRIERRRIR O35 () )5
RIE L BRRFRBARREIAS
 1E 3 (ii) B A AR B = A2 A RISE 7505
N ERRBEAE EEZEHN LB
B —#D - BIERIE °

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election MERAZMAZXEEENREFEHNL AR A]
as Director are posted on the Company's website at #¥hhttp://www.cergroup.com.hk ©

http://www.cergroup.com.hk.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED
PRIREERKREAFRAT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Environmental Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 58 to 139, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 30 June 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING

CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which mentions that the Group
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$16,743,000 for the year ended 30 June 2022 and as at
30 June 2022 the Group had net current
approximately HK$2,422,000. These conditions indicate a material
uncertainty which may cast doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in

respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our %
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

() Investment properties and biological assets ()}

Refer to notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The Group measured its investment properties and biological

assets at fair value and fair value

less costs to sell,

respectively, with the changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss. These fair value measurements are significant
to our audit because the balances of investment properties
of approximately HK$265,578,000 and biological assets of
approximately HK$267,079,000 as at 30 June 2022 and the
corresponding gain from changes in fair value less costs to
sell of biological assets of approximately HK$10,018,000 for
the year then ended are material to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the Group’s fair value
measurements involve application of judgements and are

based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuers engaged by client;

— Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting
with the external valuers to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market
evidence to support significant judgements and
assumptions applied in the valuation models;

—  Checking key assumptions and
valuation models to supporting evidence;

54 China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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{))

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation models;
and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement
in the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurements of the
investment properties and biological assets are supported by
the available evidence.

Intangible assets
Refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of intangible assets for
impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit
because the balance of intangible assets of approximately
HK$80,829,000 as at 30 June 2022 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's
impairment test involves application of judgement and is
based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;

— Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
such as discount rates;

— Obtaining and checking to evidence to support the
Group’s impairment assessment;

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity
of the external valuer engaged by client;

— Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting
with the external valuer to discuss and challenge the
valuation process, methodologies used and market
evidence to support significant judgements and
assumptions applied in the valuation model;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model;
and

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for intangible
assets is supported by the available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor's report thereon. The other information is
expected to be made available to us after the date of this
auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/Our-
views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Shun Fai

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05498

Hong Kong, 26 February 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and

Other Comprehensive Income

GeBEBERkHEMEZEKER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

2022 2021
—EF-—f T —4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt aF FHET FAET
Revenue W 25 8 93,188 77,878
Cost of sales 5 & AR (72,035) (58,011)
Gross profit EFH 21,153 19,867
Other income, gains and losses HA A - Wz R B 18 10 4,065 2,739
Administrative and operating THREERX
expenses (41,408) (41,210)
Fair value gain on investment KEME 2 A ERE
properties 19 — 1,900
Gain/(loss) arising from changes in A EERARLELEH
fair value less costs to sell of ﬁéﬂjﬁﬁiﬁﬁiz
biological assets Wz, (E18) 20 10,018 (8,245)
Net gain/(loss) on fair value changes AR B ABZEZ
in investments at fair value TxﬁZAL%EEEZ
through profit or loss m/(E18)F58 729 (4,733)
Provision for impairment loss of T;"Eﬁﬁ%ﬁff_ﬁﬁ)@ﬂ?i
right-of-use assets 15 18 (2,492) (9,549)
Provision for impairment loss of EEEEREBEEERE
intangible assets 21 (1,796) (3,800)
Provision for impairment loss of GFEREEBEREE
inventories — (404)
Reversal of provision/(provision) for & Uk ZX I8 R 18 /&5 18 # 45
impairment loss of receivables B m(EE) 24, 25 117 (4,152)
Loss from operations KEEE (9.614) (47,587)
Finance costs Bl & K AR 11 (3,608) (2,469)
Loss before tax B % mi A5 18 (13,222) (50,056)
Income tax (expense)/credit R (AX),/ Hx 12 (1,606) 1,114
Loss for the year EEBRE 13 (14,828) (48,942)
Other comprehensive BREERGEZE
(loss)/income after tax: (Eﬁ?")/lﬁtﬁ :
Item that may be reclassified to BEEF P HE R 2
profit or loss: 15 =
Exchange differences on translation & /8N 75 2 [E 5
of foreign operations =F (8,404) 30,913
Other comprehensive FShEMEE
(loss)/income for the year, (B518) W 2
net of tax (Bx#i18) (8,404) 30,913
Total comprehensive loss for the HEE2EE B
year (23,232) (18,029)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REEERHMEZEKER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

2022 2021
—EgE=-= —F-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FHET FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: TH A LFEGEREEIE :
Owners of the Company ZANYNEETE SN (16,743) (46,102)
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR = 1,915 (2,840)
(14,828) (48,942)
Total comprehensive (loss)/ TIHAATEEEERZE
income for the year (B518), W5 488 -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company PiN/NETE SN (24,899) (16,058)
Non-controlling interests FE 17 AR e 2 1,667 (1,971)
(23,232) (18,029)
Loss per share SkisE 15
Basic (HK cents per share) AR (FRRBA) (1 (2)
Diluted (HK cents per share) B8 (T ROB L) (1 (2)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R e B g AR R 3R

Asat30June2022 R-—ZT_—F,NA=+H

2022 2021
—F=-= T —4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ok TFi#&T THE T
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 17 7,789 7,740
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 33,466 21,716
Investment properties REME 19 265,578 267,534
Biological assets EMEE 20 267,079 264,209
Intangible assets EBEEE 21 80,829 89,893
Goodwill EES 22 1,087 1,087
Investments at fair value through BRARBEFAERZ
profit or loss ’& 26 18,160 17,203
673,988 669,382
Current assets RHEE
Inventories Ve 23 29,630 25,264
Trade and other receivables JE L BR 3Rk R H Ath FE U
KB 24 46,501 60,728
Loans receivable FEWE R 25 12,133 12,142
Investments at fair value through BARBEFAEBERZ
profit or loss & 26 961 1,129
Refundable secured deposit ARECEKBIL S 27 11,000 12,000
Cash and cash equivalents BeMERIRE 6,295 19,005
106,520 130,268
Current liabilities REARE
Trade and other payables FE AT R 3R B B Al P AT
I8 28 33,267 32,987
Contract liabilities a4EE 4,862 6,700
Lease liabilities HEAR 29 2,221 10,948
Borrowings f& 3 30 68,215 71,787
Current tax liabilities BNEAfiIE & & 377 2,867
108,942 125,289
Net current (liabilities)/assets REN(BR) BEFSE (2,422) 4,979
Total assets less current BELERTHER
liabilities 671,566 674,361
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Lease liabilities HEAR 29 48,120 26,600
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFRIBEE 31 86,977 88,060
135,097 114,660
NET ASSETS AEFHE 536,469 559,701
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R B AR 3R

As at 30 June 2022

RZEZZ—FA=+H

2022 2021
—F=-= T —4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k23 F#ET THE T
Capital and reserves BAXRGEE

Share capital N 32 40,731 40,731
Reserves 1 483,465 508,364

Equity attributable to owners of the A2 R#H AEIEED
Company 524,196 549,095
Non-controlling interests I 17 % = 12,273 10,606
TOTAL EQUITY B 536,469 559,701

The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 139 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
26 February 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

FSSE1BATHA AV BHRRNIKLEETE
R-E—=FE A=+ ~BH#ERZ#ET
BT OUAHNUNTEERERESTZRE

Yeung Chi Hang Leung Kwong Choi

BEIE REFX
Director Director
EZE g
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 30 June 2022 #HZ

=

THERNAZTALEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FATHEAAES
Foreign
Share Share-based  currency Non-
Share  premium  Statutory Capital compensation translation Accumulated controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
3] Bt SHERK
i3 BER EERE  RAEE  HEHE HE  RiER BE FERED 2%
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL TAL FEL TAL TEL FATL FATL FRL FATL FRL
At 1 July 2020 RZZ2-%F
tA—A 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 12,630 27,632 (731,819) 565,158 12,574 577,732
Total comprehensive income/  F 8 2 B/
(loss) for the year (BB g = = = = = 30,044 (46,102)  (16,058) (1,971)  (18,029)
Purchase of non-controlling B B JEH2 AR 4
interests = = = = - - (5) (5 3 @)
At 30 June 2021 RZB--F
~NA=TH 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 12,630 57,676 (777,926) 549,095 10,606 559,701
At 1 July 2021 KR=Z=-%
tA-A 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 12,630 57,676 (777,926) 549,095 10,606 559,701
Total comprehensive (loss) ~ FE2E (B18),/
income for the year gt - - - - - (8,156) (16,743) (24,899) 1,667 (23,232)
At 30 June 2022 WZE==
~A=1H 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 12,630 49,520 (794,669) 524,196 12,273 536,469
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

2022 2021
—E- —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEZEFEH
ACTIVITIES Heang
Loss before tax B 15 Bl E5 1R (13,222) (50,056)
Adjustments for: Bt TN FIERE
Finance costs L= N 3,608 2,469
Depreciation e 7,791 9,308
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEHE 5,151 5,133
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE HER
equipment B2 EE 181 81
Fair value gain on investment properties KEMEZARE
W &= — (1,900)
(Gain)/loss arising from changes in fair EMEERNLEE
value less costs to sell of biological assets W ERAEE 2
(a)/ BHE (10,018) 8,245
Net (gain)/loss on fair value changes on BARBEABRZ
investments at fair value through profit or "EZRRESR
loss z (M=) EE
R (729) 4,733
Gain on waiver of lease liabilities HEBBEERNE (2,578) —
Provision for impairment loss of right-of-use {4 & Z M EE 1B
assets B A5 2,492 9,549
Provision for impairment loss of intangible mEEERERIE
assets B 1,796 3,800
Provision for impairment loss of inventories 77 & J8 & /&5 18 % & — 404
(Reversal of provision)/provision for FE U SR IR R E B 18
impairment loss of receivables (BERE) BHE (117) 4,152
Operating loss before working capital EEESEBER L KLE
changes &5 18 (5,645) (4,082)
Change in inventories FE# (4,366) (2,864)
Change in trade and other receivables JE T BR 5K I At e
W R T 14,344 6,131
Change in loans receivable JE U & R 9 1,894
Change in investments at fair value through & AR EFAEBRZ
profit or loss wEE (60) —
Change in trade and other payables JE 5 BR 3R Ik L Aib fE
R TE 2 280 1,262
Change in contract liabilities GHEEE (1,838) 1,866
Cash generated from operations REMMSHRE 2,724 4,207
Income tax paid B ATS (2,861) (2,427)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM & F#(FFA) Fid
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REFHE (137) 1,780
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MEBRERER

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHETT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REIR&FEM
HeReE
Refund of deposit paid in relation to REHBYE—HH B
acquisition of a subsidiary NAIZBEMIRE® 1,000 —
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and HE%% - BE K& &
equipment 2 s sk IE 118 18
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B EW¥  B&E M&E (2,319) (857)
Purchases of investments at fair value through B E & Q4 Bt AR
profit or loss Z®E — (6,069)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES & EEFARLEE (1,201) (6,908)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RERLEFEN
ACTIVITIES He&ReE
Borrowings raised EEEER 1,581 88,000
Repayment of borrowings EEBX (5.129) (59,013)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEREHEAR (4,144) (2,942)
Lease interests paid ENEERE (1,870) (130)
Interests paid =ESRURS) (1,737) (1,335)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM ®ZEE® (FiH) Fis
FINANCING ACTIVITIES R&F8E (11,299) 24,580
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash HRE&RZRKRLIEH
equivalents (RD)  tamigsE (12,637) 19,452
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SNEEERZEEGHHTE (73) 281
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FMZEEREFRRE
BEGINNING OF YEAR IHH 19,005 (728)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF & 2H2RERARE
YEAR EH 6,295 19,005
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH HeRkFERRLIER
EQUIVALENTS 7
Bank and cash balances R1T MR E 6,295 19,005
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e AR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Environmental Resources Group Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is
Ugland House, PO Box 309, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of
business is Room 2608, 26/F., Greenfield Tower, Concordia
Plaza, No.1 Science Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and Singapore Exchange
Limited.

During the year, the Company’s principal activity is
investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries
are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Company and its subsidiaries hereinafter are
collectively referred to as the “Group”.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$16,743,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2022 and as at 30 June 2022 the Group had
net current liabilities of approximately HK$2,422,000. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.

The directors have been undertaking the following plans and
measures to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial
position:

(i) An executive director who is also the chairman, chief
executive officer and substantial shareholder of the
Company has undertaken to provide adequate funds to
enable the Group to meet its liabilities and to settle
financial obligations to third parties as and when they
fall due, so that the Group can continue as a going
concern and carry on its business without a significant
curtailment of operations for the next twelve months
from 30 June 2022;

(i) The Group shall continue to implement measures aiming
at improving the working capital and cash flows of the
Group, including but not limited to the
implementation of cost-saving measures to maintain
adequate cash flows for the Group’s operations; and

TERREREEERAR

—REH

TREREEREEERAB (AR
ﬂj)mﬁﬁfﬂxﬁ%?ﬂ%ﬁ?iﬁ’]*ﬁ@ﬁ

£~ A o B 5 fift 9 55 & 2 ”Ugland
House PO Box 309, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands * £ & &

EMBURNEBNEARBEEE—
5% B 75 = 15 i R 26182608 © AN A
BOREBBARSITAERA T ([H
LA EREF IR ST AR A A
e

CARBNEREBRREE
HIB LAz ZXEBEHIINER
BA TS R M 5E39 - N E R H B
ARG AEE] -

DRI
_Hif ® :>IJ

REGCEEE

AEFREZE T -_—FA=1+H
EFEEARRAHEAEAEBGEELY
16,743,000 U RN AREBR =T
T CHERNA=tTHEERDAGEFEE
#9/42,422,0008 7T ° tERNRRTF
EEATHEREZ k@Y AREEE
BEEZERNBREARERE - B
Lkﬁlﬁﬁ;fﬁm%ﬁﬁﬁﬁqﬂﬁiﬁ
HEEMEREARE

E=Z—EHHTUTEEIRER AR
EREEZREME RSB

(i) —BHRTEZ(AKA/AQRAE
B TTHRAEENEEZRR) B &
MR EERE S UBRANE
BEARISKEEERER
RE=FR/ENPBES EX
SEJA-_ZFT-__fX A=+
HEF AR+ @R ELER
= RIELE MTVE?”W‘“A&%“

iﬂiﬂﬂ}*

=

/]

(iy AEESELEEREGL 54
HEAKBZEEES RAS
mE BREETNRREHBEA
RAZER RAKBZ2E
HBTETRRERE K

—EBCCEFR 65



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

2.

66

GOING CONCERN BASIS (CONTINUED)

(iii)  The directors have carried out a detailed review of the
cash flow forecast of the Group prepared by the
management of the Company covered a period of not
less than twelve months from 30 June 2022, after
taking into account the impact of the
above-mentioned plans and measures. Accordingly, the
directors believe that the Group will have sufficient
cash resources to satisfy its future working capital and
other financing requirements as and when they fall due
in the next twelve months from 30 June 2022.

The directors of the Company are therefore of the opinion
that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be
unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to the consolidated financial statements to
adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as
current assets and liabilities, respectively.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA"”) that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 July 2021. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”), and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and amounts
reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The application of these
new HKFRSs will not have material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of biological assets, which are carried at their fair
values less costs to sell, and investment properties and
investments at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at their fair values. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors of
the Company to exercise their judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to these
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
30 June. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities
incurred and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the
costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are
measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is
attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is added to the
cost of acquisition to calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary were recognised in other
comprehensive income (for example, equity investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income), the amount
that was recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised on the same basis as would be required if the
previously held equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. The method of measuring
impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of
“impairment of assets” as stated in the accounting policy
below. Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
(“CGU") that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Foreign currency translation
(@) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HKS$,
which is the Company’s functional currency and
presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case incomes and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

(iii)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities
and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal annual rates are as follows:

Leasehold improvements The shorter of 20%—-33% or
over the remaining
unexpired terms of the

leases
Furniture, fixtures and 19%-33%
equipment
Cruiser 30%
Motor vehicles 30%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties
are measured initially at their cost including all direct costs
attributable to the properties.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
its fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of the investment properties are recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the

difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rate is as follows:

Land and buildings 5%-50%
Motor vehicles 20%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or
less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for
as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 EHZE_-F—
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THERNAZTALEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets

(a) Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amortisation of intangible assets is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of
30 years.

(b) Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives of 30.6 years.

Biological assets

A biological asset is defined as a living plant managed by
the Group which is involved in the agricultural activity of the
transformation of biological assets for sale, into agricultural
produce, or into additional biological assets.

Biological assets comprise standing timbers in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), which are stated at fair value
less costs to sell at initial recognition and at the end of each
reporting period. The gain or loss arising on initial
recognition, and subsequent change in fair values less costs
to sell of biological assets is recognised in profit or loss in
the reporting period in which it arises. Costs to sell are the
incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an
asset, excluding finance costs and taxes. Standing timber is
transferred to inventory at its fair value less costs to sell at
the date of harvest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis for
motor vehicles and tyres. Cost is determined using the
weighted average basis for recycled metals and accessories
of motor vehicles other than tyres. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of all production
overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’'s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are
initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost; and

— Investments at fair value through profit or loss.
(a) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade, loans and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

—  the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

— the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)
(b) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they
do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss are net of any interest income and
dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit
losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for
trade and loans receivables or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade and loans receivables)
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit
losses that result from default events on that financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the
required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between
the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised product or service exceeds one year, the
consideration is adjusted for the effect of a significant
financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms of
a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net
carrying amount.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 EHZE_-F—
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THERNAZTALEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave and long service leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group
and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5%
of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly
maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500 per
employee and vest fully with employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in the PRC are members of a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and wages
to the central pension scheme to fund the retirement
benefits. The local municipal government undertakes to
assume the retirement benefits obligations of all
existing and future retired employees of these
subsidiaries. The only obligation of these subsidiaries
with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet
the required contributions under the scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by
applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to directors and employees

The fair value of services received is determined by reference
to the fair value of the share options granted at the grant
date and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share-based compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based
compensation reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
corresponding amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
corresponding amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the
Group whose business objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such investment
properties are measured based on the expected manner as to
how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

84

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group’s
various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of
productions processes, the type or class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)
(B) (Continued)

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets except biological assets,
investment properties, investments, inventories, receivables
and goodwill to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.

(CONTINUED)
Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes when material.

86 China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2022 Annual Report

EXETBR(E)

EERER)

HMEEXREELEEM 2K EE
BEti O NEREE  MEEXRS
EXEN s REESRIEEAKRE
TR -BMEBBESNBRNERER -
BB EEREMHSEIR £
BN TR EBERGEIEE-ME -

B EBELRER AIEEXRE
EEEM 2 REEENEELER G
st ATl £ 7R - HESR ANTR 2 BRE{E
THRBEMNNBEFEL BERZE
EXREEEFMN 2 BERBEMER
EZREE(HREEXINE) - RE
BlEZBOeNBEAERRER
EEHEEREGHSBIKRZBN
{Zi\ OB B 2 B O Rl B E S 4T

BERNABR

EAKERBESTRARERAATE
BEREESE METZEERA
RE BT AR F a5 3 e A SEfh AT E
2N IARKETHRNSE LA
BHEREF WMeEREEBEX
AlEETREERMSXHZRE
b ¥R o

ETAAIRER BN L QAN - K
BURERBE AT SEML AT - BR IR BB A
mZ A RS BRIREERER
HKRBE - BEEREZHFEEEMN
“REBRAKREFBEE LR RELER
BR FEAS H AR M 2 2 R RE 1 1S
A RERIREE -

ik
ez B
, AN
=

J

~
-

BREWPERFER

REABASERS HARAMR 2 BEI
ERNBZBTIHELERRATEE 2
BEMREARARER  INEAR
MBERARR - SEHBRER 2 ME B
BREBMBELN  AIRMEARE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

5. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
and residual values of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual
values are different to those previously estimated, or it
will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Fair value less costs to sell of biological assets
and fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed independent professional valuers
to assess the fair value less costs to sell of biological
assets and fair value of investment properties. In
determining the fair values, the valuers have utilised a
method of valuation which involves certain estimates.
The directors have exercised their judgement and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of
the current market conditions.

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for intangible assets at the end of each
reporting period. Such assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. To calculate
the fair value less costs of disposal, the management
estimates the expected future cash flows from the
assets or CGU and chooses a suitable discount rate in
order to derive the present value of those cash flows.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

5.

88

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(CONTINUED)

(d) Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts
The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the

(e)

(f)

recoverability of its trade, loans and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness, collateral
security, financial condition and past collection history
of each debtor. Impairments arise where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be collectible. The identification of bad and
doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the actual result is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade, loans and other receivables
and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such
estimate has been changed. If the financial conditions
of the debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional allowances may be required.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and selling expense.
These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions. The Group will
reassess the estimates by the end of each reporting
period.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in HK$ and
Renminbi which are the functional currencies of the
principal operating entities of the Group. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk in respect of
its investments at fair value through profit or loss. The
directors manage this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risk profiles. The
Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on
equity instruments quoted in the Stock Exchange.

At 30 June 2022, if the share prices of the
investments increased/decreased by 10%, the Group’s
post tax loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$80,000 (2021: HK$94,000) lower/
higher, arising as a result of the fair value gain/loss of
the investments.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 EHZE_-F—

6.

920

THERNAZTALEE

FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c)

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of bank and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables, loans receivable,
investments at fair value through profit or loss and
refundable secured deposit included in the
consolidated statement of financial position represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to the Group’s financial assets.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
certain concentration of credit risk as approximately
68% (2021: 75%) and 93% (2021: 96%) of its trade
receivables were due from the largest customer and
the five largest customers, respectively. The Group has
policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. In
addition, the directors review the recoverable amounts
of each individual trade and loan debt regularly to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised
for irrecoverable debts. In this regard, the directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The credit risk on investments at fair value through
profit or loss is limited because the counterparties are
well-established securities broker firms and an
insurance company in Hong Kong.

The Group obtains collateral from the vendor to
minimise the credit risk in respect of the refundable
secured deposit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e VB RRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period by
comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following information is used:

— internal credit rating;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower;

— significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit
enhancements; and

— significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including
changes in the payment status of borrower.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset is
when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 90 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable
for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where loans
or receivables have been written off, the Group, if
practicable and economical, continues to engage in
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due.
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6.

92

FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the
loss provision is determined for each of the categories.
In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates for each category and
adjusts for forward looking data.

6. SHMRELEMEEE)

(c)
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Category Definition Loss provision

=R E&® BIEEE

Performing Low risk of default and strong 12 month expected losses
capacity to pay

RiF B A BB R B 2 BE 5 1218 ATE B & 18

Non-performing

TR

Significant increase in credit risk
EERRERZIE N

All of these receivables are considered to have low risk
and under the ‘Performing’ category because they have
a low risk of default and have strong ability to meet
their obligations.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

Lifetime expected losses
T HIEHER

(d)
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities
based on the earliest date the Group can be required

6. SMERELEREEE)

(d) EEBHEEEE (&)

AEETRAEEAKERRE
RERXMNWRT BHZEH

to pay is as follows: AT
Total
Less than undiscounted Carrying
1 year cash flow amount
RERRE
DiME mEEE AR E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TEL
At 30 June 2022 R-Z¥--#£7-H=+H
Trade and other payables JE 51 BR 3R R L b 8 < 5008 33,267 33,267 33,267
Borrowings B 68,215 68,215 68,215
101,482 101,482 101,482
At 30 June 2021 R-F¥=-—-%7:A=+H
Trade and other payables B 157 BR 0 I L At B A SRR 32,987 32,987 32,987
Borrowings T 71,787 71,787 71,787
104,774 104,774 104,774

The maturity analysis of the Group’s borrowings based
on scheduled repayments dates as set out in the loan

7N 55 B 8 SR 1B B 5K 15 5% P K
MIEEERBH B A D

agreements is as follows: T
Total
Less than Between Between undiscounted Carrying
1year 1and2years 2and5years Over 5 years cash flow amount
RERHR
biE 1E25 2E55 @is5E RESE REfE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAL TEL TR TAL TEL
At 30 June 2022 R=F--#5xA=tH
Borrowings & 20,722 4,481 13,443 39,582 78,228 68,215
At 30 June 2021 R-B--£xA=+H
Borrowings &3 20,163 4,481 13,443 44,063 82,150 1,787

(e) Interest rate risk

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the Group does not have significant interest rate risk
as the fluctuation in interest rates is not expected to
be material. The Group will constantly review the
economic situation and its interest rate risk profile, and
will consider appropriate hedging measure in future as
may be necessary.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT 6. 2RIREBLEMERE ()
(CONTINUED)

(f) Categories of financial instruments at 30 June ) RZFBZZFR-F=-—F
2022 and 2021 ANA=THZEMIAER
2022 2021
—g-= —ET -4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Financial assets EHMEE
Investments at fair value through RA R EFF ABRZ
profit or loss "E 19,121 18,332
Financial assets at amortised cost IZ# ik ANzt 2 2 & &l
(including cash and cash EERERENMER
equivalents): REHEAR) :
Trade receivables & U BR 3k 25,138 31,744
Deposits and other receivables &% & H fth f& Ut 308 — 13,802
Loans receivable & W & 3k 12,133 12,142
Refundable secured deposit REDCEAZ S 11,000 12,000
Bank and cash balances R1T M IR & &k 6,295 19,005
54,566 88,693
Financial liabilities LRBRE
Financial liabilities at amortised — R# K ANt E 2
cost: TRAE:
Trade and other payables JE 151 BR 5K I L Ath FE A<
A 33,267 32,987
Borrowings & & 68,215 71,787
101,482 104,774
(g) Fair values (9) 2n{E
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets HEMBRAKRMAAEES
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated REERSREGENEREER
statement of financial position approximate their EXBMAAERS -

respective fair values.
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

6. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(h)

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost capital.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may issue or buy-back shares,
issue new debts, recover debts or sell assets to
maintain sufficiency of working capital.

The Group’s total capital is the shareholders’ equity
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group is not subject to external
mandatory capital requirements and uses the liquidity
ratio (i.e. proportion of current assets to current
liabilities) to monitor the capital.

The liquidity ratio of the Group is as follows:

6.

EHMREEEKBERE ()

(hy EsEBEER

AEEERETHERERER
AEBFBERLEZ8N B
BRYE 0 5 & E 8 1 K R
HHE YEBFREENE
BORIRAES BBESF
JE DA - AN 65 (B B0 B8 B8 5K B

AEBERZBERRE S E R
BERGEELRHEELARZ - B
MERABREARGERE A5HE
FRER T B E D - BITH
B WEEHILEEE
MBRENEEES -

REEBNBRERNBES BN
MR FAH R - A& E
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S
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AEBWRDESLL DT :

2022 2021
—F=-= —_F

Liquidity ratio mEE S =R

0.98 1.04

TERREREEERAR

—EBCCEFR 95



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 7. ARENE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset ARBEZERRATIZRHEERFTEH

or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction HMETZEFR S HEEEMKER

between market participants at the measurement date. The FEEBEMXNZEBE - UTAR

following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair B ERBEETR2AAERER B

value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs BEREMAABASES R=1F&K

to valuation techniques used to measure fair value: Nt AR E:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets B4 AKEBRF=HEA
for identical assets or liabilities that the WARE: REHREEXBE
Group can access at the measurement date. B E BB T 3% 3R B (R AL

FEE) o

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included EM BENIBEITEEIL
within level 1 that are observable for the WMARE: AEBR 28 AH
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. B E—ABEZRE

BR N o
Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. B BEHXBEZTAER
BWABE BWARE-

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and REBZBERBEREEZNEER

transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the MNEBEHZER 2 B IEZE =

event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. ER2EMBARBEL -

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 June (@) RZEBE-_—_FARNA=ZF+HZA

2022: REERKE

Fair value measurements using:

AL FBANBZ AR EHE :

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B at E—8 B B “ast

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET

Recurring fair value EEMARE
measurements: iTE:
Biological assets EMEE — 267,079 — 267,079
Investments at fair value BRRERTA
through profit or loss BmRE
— Equity securities listed in =~ — RBEB LT 2
Hong Kong RAE % 961 — - 961
— Keyman insurance contract — £ & A B RE
aH — — 18,160 18,160
Investment properties in BEREME
Hong Kong — 191,900 — 191,900
Investment properties in B E Y
the PRC — 73,678 — 73,678
Total recurring fair value  EEMARE
measurements EEE 961 532,657 18,160 551,778

96 China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2022 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B BwRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. AR{EFEGER)
(@) (Continued) (a) (#&)
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 June RZEZ—FXA=1THZA
2021: Mﬁr‘i&?&%
Fair value measurements using:
ERAATEHARBEZ AR BEGE :
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B — & E_M® E=& et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FAT FAT FAT
Recurring fair value EEMARE
measurements: iE
Biological assets EYEE = 264,209 = 264,209
Investments at fair value BRAREAERE
through profit or loss ZRE
— Equity securities listed in =~ — RBEB L2
Hong Kong A % 1,129 = = 1,129
— Keyman insurance contract — £ & A B RE
an — - 17,203 17,203
Investment properties in Hong &#1X &Y %
Kong — 191,900 = 191,900
Investment properties in IR B Y ¥
the PRC — 75,634 — 75,634
Total recurring fair value EHEMARE
measurements FEEH 1,129 531,743 17,203 550,075
(b)  Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on (b)y WBEF=ZHEZAALEBITENE
level 3: B8R
2022 2021
' — - —F
Description HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt TET FAET
Investments at fair value through ¥R A BT AEZZ
profit or loss S
— Keyman insurance contract — FEZABR
éﬂ
At 1 July RtAR— 17,203 —
Purchases g — 21,369
Total fair value gains/(losses) REZBRAZANE
recognised in profit or loss® Wezs,/(B518) 5w 957 (4,166)
At 30 June RANA=+H 18,160 17,203
® Include gains or losses for assets ® B IERIFHEHHRIFS
held at end of reporting ZEEWENEE
period 957 (4,166)
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7.

98

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

(@]

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and
valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements:

The Group’s management is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair
value measurements. The management reports directly
to the board of directors for these fair value
measurements. Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the management and the
board of directors at least twice a year.

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of the Group’s biological assets and
investment properties carried at fair value are
determined.

Level 2 fair value measurements

7.

AR{EE &)

(@)

AEEBMABEBERERA
REFEMRAGBERNREA
g

AEBERERE A ELETHMER
EHRECEERBBAAE
AECBRERE=ZMANEF
E-EHEEERRNEFTERE
ZEAABEFE- EREHRE
FeBFERIAmMAEREER
RBRMX -

; o

,
T

TREINBBEAEEZAAE
JIREMEERKREMEN R
RENEAEEZERM -

BoRAREFE

Fair value Fair value
AR{E RAfE
2022 2021
—g-C —E-—F
Description Valuation technique Key input HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt G ERE EEHABR FHET THT
Biological assets ~ Market approach Volume of poplar trees and 267,079 264,209
market price of poplar trees per
cubic meter
EMEE [z BnEBERAGEEL K
miE
Investment Direct comparison Market price of car parking space 191,900 191,900
properties in approach
Hong Kong
BEREREME BELBUE FHEATE
Investment Market approach and  Land: market price per square 73,678 75,634
properties in replacement cost meter;
the PRC approach Buildings: replacement cost per
square meter
EREYE miZEREER T BFHARTE:
AR BF BYARKEERAR
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. AREFEE)
() (Continued) (0 (&)
Level 3 fair value measurements FEERAREE
The fair value of the keyman insurance contract REAEE - RZRXTEERABR
purchased for a key management personnel of the ROEZABRBEDNZAN
Group is determined based on the cash surrender BEERREEABRRBREHM
value in accordance with the keyman insurance Bﬂjz;&{%fﬁiﬁ#m bt I JE
contract which is not an observable input. ARG AR BEERE
Management estimates the fair value based on the RIEARRENFEABRR
latest policy statement of the keyman insurance B EMRERSE N .;JF’D\/LE
contract provided by the insurance company. ﬁ °
The unobservable input is the cash surrender value A BRE ABERRRE QA
quoted by the insurance company according to the *ETFIE/\EJ%FM:' #9 B 0 B9
keyman insurance contract. When the cash surrender BRIRB#E - }Eﬁiﬁﬁfﬁf
value is higher, the fair value of the keyman insurance S Ix/\,@\ﬁ? ez R
contract will be higher. BEfEgRm -
During the two years, there were no changes in the REZMEA - TR 2 b ER
valuation techniques used. $E5E4H """"" AEf o
8. REVENUE 8. Wi
2022 2021
—_Eg-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Trading of recycled metals BEERKEE 17,514 13,117
Trading of motor vehicles and related B & /5= & A8 B AL 1+
accessories 71,016 58,495
Revenue from contracts with customers B F & #2 W& 88,530 71,612
Rental income Ha2WBA 4,329 4,036
Loan interest income BEHF B WA 329 2,230
Total revenue B 93,188 77,878

TERREREEERAR
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8.

100

REVENUE (CONTINUED)

=

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers for

W &= (48)

BE_T-_—_F#A=+HItFE"

year ended 30 June 2022: BEEAHNRZZ O
Trading of
motor
Trading of vehicles and
recycled related
metals  accessories
EERER
EERKESE 1 BA BC
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Geographical markets i [E T 35

The PRC a3 — 16,234
Hong Kong B 17,514 53,682
Macau i — 1,035
Taiwan =0 — 65
17,514 71,016

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers for

BE_ZT_—FX A=1THILFE "

year ended 30 June 2021: BEPAEHWE 2D
Trading of
Trading of motor vehicles
recycled and related
metals accessories
EEAER
EEOWSE 18 B A
HK$'000 HK$000
FHET FAT

Geographical markets i [E T 15

The PRC i - o0t
Hong Kong BB 13,117 51,773
Macau B P = 707
13,117 58,495

All revenue from contracts with customers are recognised at

a point in time.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

2022 Annual Report
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8. REVENUE (CONTINUED)
Sales of goods

The Group sells recycled metals, motor vehicles and related
accessories to the customers. Sales are recognised when
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products and the customer has obtained legal titles to the
products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of
30 to 90 days. For new customers, payment in advance or
cash on delivery is normally required. Deposits received are
recognised as contract liabilities.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
to the customers as this is the point in time that the

consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group has seven reportable segments as follows:
(i)  Trading of recycled metals
(i) Trading of motor vehicles and related accessories
(iii)  Property investment
(iv)  Provision of financial services
(v)  Sales of golden flower tea products
(vi)  Securities trading and investment
(vii) Sales of plantation materials and products
The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different
technology and marketing strategies.
Segment profits or losses do not include finance costs and
income tax expense/credit. Segment assets do not include

goodwill and refundable secured deposit. Segment liabilities
do not include deferred tax liabilities and borrowings.

Wz (48)
HEEM
AEERFEFPHECNWESE  TER
HERM - HERNEMNZEHEE S
BR(AERXNTER)  BEAE

FEXFPEMEMNABITAERE
FREBEMMAEMEERER -

Mm% FEL R HEE —MIL30E90KH
EEHET HMEFPREARINXK
S ERTR - WHKIZEERAEE L
&

f& e

EWHIEAREmMRX N T HFE#ER -
i EM SR ERNKE HEARR
A 38 25 1 A 7 £ 15 A -

SEEE
AEBBETIEEAT2HDEP

i) EERKEE

(iy EBEEAERMEBEMS

(i) MEEE

(iv) RHESBRS

(v HESIEREM

(vii BHFEERKE

(vi) HEREMNHREM®
AREBEZAZ2H D MBAERETREM®
RRFZREEERFEN - HRNBX
5 B AR By & 35 B R AR - X
NHREEEAZ2HN -

D ERE N BB T B IR E A KA
BHAX e DHEETBER

BRARECEAZS - DRAET
BREEHBAEIER-
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S 4| ==
9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. SEEHE (&)
Information about reportable segment revenue, profit or B E2FoBYE=E Bm BER
loss, assets and liabilities: BEMNERNT :
Trading of Sales of
motor Sales of plantation
Trading of vehicles and Provision of golden  Securities  materials
recycled related  Property  financial flower tea trading and and
metals accessories investment services  products investment  products Others Total
ER EERER R HE BHEE HEEE
OfeE HEEfS YERE  SHMERE 2TRESR RiEE MHRESR it h
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL T THL T THL T THL T THL
Year ended 30 June 2022 BE-B-CE
~AZ+BLEE
Revenue from external customers R B0 RE P2 17,514 71,016 4,329 329 - - - - 93,188
Segment (loss)/profit comprising: 43 (&548) /& | 817 : (2,880) 8,891 3,108 (691) (2,531) (253) 4,836 (3,044) 7436
Gain arising from changes in fair AN BERLEE
value less costs to sell of RLERAEE
biological assets pd§:d - - - 10,018 - 10,018
Depreciation and amortisation ~ # &R & (3,544) (587) (1) — (68) — (5127) (2334) (11,661
Proceeds from disposal of listed % F &% 2 5
securities HR - - - - - 2,939 - — 2,939
Costs of disposal of listed HE EMEF KA
securities - - - - - (3,000) - - (3,000)
Net gain/(loss) on fair value RALEFABRZ
changes in investments at fair REZAREES
value through profit or loss W/ (BR) 58 - 957 - - - (167) - - 790
Provision for impairment loss of &4 E R EEE & &
intangible assets - — - — (1,796) — - — (1,796)
Reversal of provision/(provision)  FE Yt B Rl B 5 1R B
for impairment loss of BE/(BE)
receivables 700 — - — (583) — - — 17
Provision for impairment loss @Eﬂ%%?ﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@
of right-of-use assets - — - — - — - (2,492) (2,492)
At 30 June 2022 E“_i__ff-nﬁl +8
Segment assets AHEE 5,406 87,199 266,327 14,022 57 1,011 348,463 38,903 761,388
Segment liabilities AHAE 2,338 14,303 6,949 401 - 467 1,945 48,652 75,055
Year ended 30 June 2021 HE-B--§
~NAZ+HLEE
Revenue from external customers R EBNRE P E 13,117 58,495 4,036 2,230 = = = = 71,878
Segment (loss)/profit comprising: % 2 (B#8) /& F 81 : (2,231) 410 4228 (2,613) (4,099) (585) (13,281) (14,027) (32,198)
Loss arising from changes in fair ~ £9EERAEEE
value less costs to sell of HEERAEE
biological assets pd 3 = = = - - - (8,245) - (8,245)
Fair value gain on investment ~ &EMEZ AR ERE
properties = = 1,900 = = = = = 1,900
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH (3,161) (633) (174) = (206) = (4,969) (3,573) (12,716)
Net loss on fair value changes B2 % B ABHEZ
on investments at fair value REZAREED
through profit or loss ZEBTE - (4,166) = = = (567) = — (4733)
Provision for impairment loss of ~ EFEEREFBER
intangible assets = = = = (3,800) = = = (3,800)
Provision for impairment loss of ~ FERiEFREE
inventories = (404) = = = = = = (404)
Provision for impairment loss of ~ EMFBR BB
receivables B = = = 4152) = = = = 4,152)
Provision for impairment loss of ~ FAEEEREFR
right-of-use assets by = = = = — - — (9,549) (9,549)
At 30 June 2021 RZ¥=-FxA=+8
Segment assets AHEE 7834 108171 268297 14,326 2,755 118 35284 23973 779,381
Segment liabilities AHEE 3,626 18,340 7,040 1,759 170 467 1,992 33,292 66,686
102 China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2022 Annual Report
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. HEAEHE(E)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, B EHoBYhE=E Bm BER
assets and liabilities: BEMYRNOT
2022 2021
—T=-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFi#&T FAET
Revenue: W 2% :
Total revenue of reportable segments 0] 2 3R 5 5F 42 Uk 25 93,188 77,878
Loss: B518 :
Total profit/(loss) of reportable 2| DIEEF,
segments (1) 7,436 (32,198)
Other profit or loss: HibE %= -
Finance costs B & B A (3.608) (2,469)
Income tax (expense)/credit FriEfi (Y e (1,606) 1,114
Corporate and unallocated items TERKRHEIEEB (17,050) (15,389)
Consolidated loss for the year FEZFREEIR (14,828) (48,942)
Assets: BE:
Total assets of reportable segments AE2EMNAREE 761,388 779,381
Goodwill EES 1,087 1,087
Refundable secured deposit AREDETES 11,000 12,000
Corporate and unallocated assets CENAPEEE 7,033 7,182
Consolidated total assets EBEE 780,508 799,650
Liabilities: BiE:
Total liabilities of reportable segments Al 2R H 2R E & 75,055 66,686
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIBE E 86,977 88,060
Borrowings (EEN 68,215 71,787
Corporate and unallocated liabilities TERRDEERE 13,792 13,416
Consolidated total liabilities o =N 244,039 239,949

TERREREEERAR
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9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. SEEHE)
Geographical information: [ &k
Revenue Non-current assets
W 25 FEREBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—g=-= T —F Z¥E=Z — - —F
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
THET FAET THET FAET
The PRC s 16,234 6,015 422,134 430,333
Hong Kong e 75,854 71,156 214,711 218,323
Macau B FT 1,035 707 — =
Taiwan = 65 — — —
Nepal ESRR — — 37,143 20,726
93,188 77,878 673,988 669,382
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based MREVMEERE - WRTREBEEP
on the locations of the customers. FrfE 5T & o
Revenue from major customers: KAEEERP RN
2022 2021
—EgE-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trading of motor vehicles and EESERBEME®
related accessories
Customer A ZEA 38,959 41,433
Revenue from the above customer individually contributed KRB LME P e @R G AR E 2
more than 10% of the total revenue of the Group. W 2£10% A £ o
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10. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 10. Hbdgr A\ « Wr2s RE518
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FHET
Sponsor income BBy A 1,156 1,049
Government subsidy IR 8 B 538 1,233
Gain on waiver of lease liabilities HeEeEadEzela 2,578 —
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BE k&R E

equipment Z E1i8 (181) (81)

Others H b (26) 538
4,065 2,739
11. FINANCE COSTS 1. BERE
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Interest on bank loans RITERF B 1,737 1,175
Interest on other loan EMERF S — 160
Lease interests HEFNE 1,871 1,134
3,608 2,469
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 12. FifgBifx (%)

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET FHE T

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax ~ BHAFETE — FEFIEH
Provision for the year FERME 179 1,371

(Over)/under-provision in prior years BEFE (B
BiE) BETR (10) 791
169 2,162
Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income  BIEifi1E — B %

Tax 15 5 204 17
Deferred tax (note 31) EIERLIE (f7231) 1,233 (3,293)
Income tax expense/(credit) FEBiRAL () 1,606 (1,114)
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (CONTINUED) 12.

Under the two-tiered Profits Tax regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity established in
Hong Kong will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above that
amount will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. The profits
of the group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered Profit
Tax rate regime will continue to be taxed at a rate of
16.5%.

Profits of the group entities established in the PRC will be
taxed at the PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of 25% (2021:
25%).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

Reconciliation between income tax expense/(credit) and the
product of loss before tax multiplied by the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax rate is as follows:

@BEX (%) (@)
BIBFIG RS EBBRINA

EREEEEE2H BB TR MNBIR
825% T EEF Mz BN LM
i NS B 1516.5% 2 T R BT - Tﬁ
ENEHMAFERNEEET R
R 8 4 4B 4216.5% 2 Bl R -

R B M A 5 B B B A i A A5 4R AP
B ¥ TS R25% (T = —
9 1 25% ) HFR e

Hbih e 2 ER R G A FRIBRE Y B %
AEELEMEBRR 2RITHE - ﬁ
BEBEBRITEAN  2EBRERERTE

SBT3 %) B2RR B1 A1 5 18 3
LAEP BEEMERREMENTE LY
R

106

2022 2021
—®'-C T —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Loss before tax B B¢ A B 18 (13,222) (50,056)
Tax calculated at applicable tax rate of %@ A #{ X25%
25% (2021: 25%) (ZZ=—%F :25%)
AEZHE (3.306) (12,514)
Effect of different tax rates of the MEBARMERS—2
subsidiaries - 1,360 1,796
Tax effect of expenses that are not AR = 2 B
deductible ma 2,958 4,734
Tax effect of income that are not BARRIA Z T
taxable = (379) (518)
Tax effect of temporary differences not %ﬁ@;@%’?ﬁ#%%ﬁZﬁi‘%
recognised T (163) 726
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not E) FH 4t Al 7k & 52 B 75
previously recognised EEZHG 2 (27) (8)
Tax reduction 75 3008 (926) (293)
(Over)/under-provision in prior years WEFE (B
B BETR (10) 791
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 7= #& 32 %1 18 &5 18 2 Bl 75
TE 2,099 4,172
Income tax expense/(credit) FrisfRiFAY(E%) 1,606 (1,114)

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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13. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 13

The Group’s loss for the year is stated at after charging the

FEREBE
A B4 [ B A T EH0M T I8 R

following: PR
2022 2021
—®'-C —ET-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
F#ET FAET
Amortisation of intangible assets £ 2 & &= £ £ 5,151 5,133
Auditor’s remuneration =% BEN BN & 980 1,000
Depreciation e 7,791 9,308
Loss on disposals of property, HEWME - BER&HE
plant and equipment ) 181 81
Expenses related to short-term FREHEEZRX
leases 630 1,604
Staff costs (including directors’ BETITRA(BIEESME) :
remuneration):
— salaries, bonuses and — && - FEALKRIER
allowances 12,969 13,249
— retirement benefit scheme — RONTE FIGT 4 5%
contributions 320 347
13,289 13,596

During the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021, the Group
had no forfeited contribution under defined contribution
retirement schemes utilised to reduce the existing levels of
contributions. As at 30 June 2022 and 2021, there was no
forfeited contribution under defined contribution retirement
schemes which may be used by the Group to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years.

BE_ZE-_—_FR_FT=—FA
—+HLEFERN AEETESHAT
B FCGRIRET B T M E 08 AR FUA
RAERITHAKE - RZEZ—F R
—E-—FXA=1+0 HETAMt
FORRETEIBE THE SR H KT Ee
mAEESE  URERKEEHE

R -
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 14. EERITHAERMNE
EMOLUMENTS
(@) The emoluments of each director are as () BSREEME&INHNT :
follows:
2022
k- St
Retirement
Salaries and Discretionary  benefit scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
ik FaREE BEEL BHRBHHIER @zt
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FTET TER FTERT FTET
Chief executive officer and ~ THAHRHTEES
executive director
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEEEE 1,536 - — 18 1,554
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RESRE 360 — — - 360
Mr. Wong Po Keung HIRB L E 300 660 — 18 978
Mr. Chung Siu Wah EOEEL 1,056 - - 5 1,061
Mr. Chik To Pan FE R & 480 — — 18 498
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHRITES
directors
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEAELE 120 - — - 120
Mr. Ong Chi King FFHELE 120 — — - 120
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BERELE 120 - - - 120
Total @zt 4,092 660 - 59 4,811
2021
—T-—F
Retirement
Salaries and Discretionary  benefit scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
e e REH WA RIER AR @5t
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THT TET TET THT TRET
Chief executive officer and ~ THEHKHITEES
executive director
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang FEELAE 1,536 = = 18 1,554
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RESKE 360 = = 13 373
Mr. Wong Po Keung BEREAE 300 660 = 18 978
Mr. Chung Siu Wah EOBEE 1,056 — — 18 1,074
Mr. Chik To Pan BB & & 480 = = 18 498
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHITES
directors
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang HEELAE 120 = = = 120
Mr. Ong Chi King FrEELE 120 = = = 120
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric EHELE 120 = = = 120
Total @t 4,092 660 — 85 4,837

108

There was no arrangement under which a director and
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the years ended 30 June 2022 and

2021.
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 14, EERTHARNS (B)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) AEEREHAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during FRN AEBAEESHFAL
the year included three (2021: three) directors whose BREZZ2(ZF=—F:=%)
emoluments are set out in note (a) above. The EE5 HEHMESFI N EXH&F
emoluments of the remaining two (2021: two) @ HBRTME(ZE_—F: M
individuals are set out below: BIANTZHSHNENT -
2022 2021
—®'-C T4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Basic salaries, allowances and EAXFHe 2K
benefits-in-kind BN & 2,000 2,000
Retirement benefit scheme R KR T FT 84 5K
contributions 18 18
2,018 2,018
The emoluments fell within the following bands: N F Ty EE -
2022 2021
—g=-= T —4F
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 £ %1,000,000% 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 T &
1,500,000/ 7T 1 1
2 2
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the AEERERENEESES
directors or the highest paid individuals as an FALTEZNME  ERMAR
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as SESNMARE B2 ZE
compensation for loss of office. SRR E o
15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. BREE
Basic loss per share BREXEE

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$16,743,000 (2021: HK$46,102,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 2,036,538,114 (2021:
2,036,538,114) in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive
for the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021.

TERREREEERAR

KRR EABRMRSREREER 2
BEELSAKNGBEAELEER
&5 18 #916,743,000% T (= & = —
F 1 46,102,000 JT) M F A B 1
B %I AE 15 02,036,538, 1140
—FT - —4 :2,036,538,114/%) °

B EEE
BE_Z_—_FR_ZFT_-_—%F7

“tRLFENRAEEEERARTE
BR#E -
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16.

17.

110

“FERNA=THRLFE

DIVIDENDS 16. K2
The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of EFVTEZHEMRBE_S ==
any dividend in respect of the years ended 30 June 2022 FR=F :_fﬁ/\ A=+HB1EFEIK
and 2021, HEE BB °
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% - BERERE
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements  equipment Cruiser vehicles Total
R RER
HEKRE R & B RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TET TET THET
Cost A&
At 1 July 2020 RZZ-FF+H—H 6,531 10,290 3,000 4,761 24,582
Additions NE 419 438 = = 857
Disposals & (@) (13) (3,000) — (3,484)
Exchange differences B 5 = 8 65 49 = = 114
At 30 June 2021 and HA:;: E/\ﬂ*ﬁ
1 July 2021 RZFEZ—4%tH—H 6,544 10,764 = 4,761 22,069
Additions NE 2,251 68 — — 2,319
Disposals & (192) (377) — (613) (1,182)
Exchange differences [ERZER (261) (118) — — (379)
At 30 June 2022 R-ZE-_—_F A=+H 8,342 10,337 — 4,148 22,827
Accumulated depreciation Rt &
At 1 July 2020 RZZE-ZE+H—H 2,362 5,843 3,000 3,174 14,379
Charge for the year NSRS 433 1,579 = 1,320 3,332
Disposals e (380) (5) (3,000) — (3,385)
Exchange differences = = 3 = = 3
At 30 June 2021 and i —==:—¢/\H*+E
1 July 2021 RZFZ—%tHA—H 2,415 7,420 = 4,494 14,329
Charge for the year RE AR 87 1,291 = 266 1,644
Disposals & (60) 11) — (612) (883)
Exchange differences EFL%%E = (52) — — (52)
At 30 June 2022 R A=1H 2,442 8,448 — 4,148 15,038
Carrying amount ﬁEEE
At 30 June 2022 RZZE-__FX A=+H 5,900 1,889 = - 7,789
At 30 June 2021 \ZF-—FXA=1H 4,129 3,344 — 267 7,740
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. EH#EEE
2022 2021
—_Eg-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FAT
At 30 June: R7A=+H:
Right-of-use assets TREEE
— Land and buildings — THREF 32,588 21,716
— Motor vehicles — AE 878 —
33,466 21,716
Lease commitments of short-term leases %2 Hif & » f & &4 630 325
The maturity analysis, based on REBZARARRES R
undiscounted cash flows, of the EZHEARBIHA
Group's lease liabilities is as follows: DITWT -
— Less than 1 year — DPRIEF 3,209 11,980
— Between 1 and 2 years — 12245 2,119 5,322
— Between 2 and 5 years — 2E55 11,693 10,925
— Over 5 years — HBIESEF 51,544 13,721
68,565 41,948
Year ended 30 June: BEANA=+THLEEE:
Depreciation charge of right-of-use TRAEEENERAX
assets
— Land and buildings — T REF 6,147 5,976
Lease interests HEFE 1,871 1,134
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets {5 f 1 & E R (E &5 18 2,492 9,549
Expenses related to short-term leases HEHAEEHR I AX 630 1,604
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRERE (6,014) (3,072)
Additions to right-of-use assets REFREEE 21,855 8,544
The Group leases various land use rights and land and AEEEESB T FERAENR T
buildings. Lease agreements are typically made for fixed REF -HEHZE —REKIZ19FH
periods of 1 to 19 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an B E BR B 5T - & E R h R E R &
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms EEHETE  TESSETRGRK
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any G- HEWZE T EMEMREZE - B
covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security HEBEETSRAEERNER -

for borrowing purposes.
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18.

19.

112

THERNAZTALEE

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 18. HFHIESE(E)
The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of BRAEERERRAEEEBK5T S
its right-of-use assets situated in Nepal as a result of the AEERREFERET  BWAEE
Group's planned hotel business in Nepal cannot be launched HHMRE AR ERAEEE 2T
according to the originally scheduled timetable. These right- EleRETEN ZEEAEEES
of-use assets are included in the segment of others. The AEM o E - BRZEBH G B A
Group expects the future cash flow from the planned hotel EOEREHEE  AEBEEERERE
business in Nepal will be reduced due to its business HREE XK RN ARRIBE S RENR
commencement date is inevitably postponed. The reviews led W o BB ZUNE M S R
to the recognition of an impairment loss of right-of-use CTHRAREEREBEERE %’72,492,000/%
assets in the segment of others of approximately TL(ZZF = —4F : 9,549,000 L) * W
HK$2,492,000 (2021: HK$9,549,000) that has been EF%&:E::%‘*\H =+HIEF
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 30 June ErEZER - R_T__F~A
2022. The recoverable amount of the relevant assets of =+8- ﬁ%ﬁﬁéZﬂ%@@%ﬁ%@
approximately HK$37,143,000 (2021: HK$20,661,000) as at 37,143,000 (= & = — %
30 June 2022 has been determined on the basis of their 20,661,000 7T) Jh {2 A B IR 3R & 7t
value in use using discounted cash flow method. The B ERECABEEE AN
discount rate used was 19.04% (2021: 16.08%). 8 IR K B19.04% (=& = — F:
16.08% ) °
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. EME
Car parking Industrial
spaces properties Total
fEE{u T¥MmE st
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FAT FAET
Fair value ARE
At 1 July 2020 RZZE-_ZEF+AH—H 190,000 69,002 259,002
Change in fair value N EE 1,900 — 1,900
Exchange differences ME X, Z= & = 6,632 6,632
At 30 June 2021 and R-B_—FX A=+
1 July 2021 ARk=—F=—%+tH
—H 191,900 75,634 267,534
Exchange differences PE X Z=%E — (1,956) (1,956)
At 30 June 2022 A —
NA=TH 191,900 73,678 265,578

The car parking spaces are situated in Hong Kong. As at
30 June 2022, the fair value of the car parking spaces is
approximately HK$191,900,000 (2021: HK$191,900,000),
which was arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited (“Ravia”), an
independent professional valuer. The fair value is based on
the direct comparison approach under fair value
measurement level 2.
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19.

20.

THERNAZTALEE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The industrial properties are situated in the PRC. As at
30 June 2022, the fair value of the industrial properties is
approximately HK$73,678,000 (equivalent to
RMB62,900,000) (2021: HK$75,634,000 (equivalent to
RMB62,900,000)), which was arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out by Ravia, an independent professional
valuer. The fair value is based on the market approach for
land and replacement cost approach for buildings and
structures under fair value measurement level 2.

The Group leases out certain of its investment properties
under operating leases. The average lease term is 2 years. All
leases are on a fixed rental basis and include variable lease
payments.

As at 30 June 2022 and 2021, the car parking spaces with
aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$191,900,000 and HK$191,900,000 respectively were
pledged to a bank to secure banking facilities available to
the Group. A deed of assignment of rental income from the
car parking spaces was executed in the favour of the bank.

19.

BREMEE)
TEDEMPRFE R - —FX
HE‘?’EI*I%*F@%Z’A/’TJTE,\@Z%
73,678,000% JT(#H & ® R &
62,900,000L)( = & — — F:

75,634,000 T (HERARK
62,900,00075)) THIRB I B ¥ L E
Mim LT 2 AEAEEER - £
UWREFREBEEDZ AARBETIDRIR
BEWBEANBEKRNENARETE
F_REE -

AEERKEHEHHEAEETRED
¥ o T R2EF - Fﬁﬁfﬁiﬁi’ﬂﬁ
lr&fﬂigﬁ W e Er 2HEE N
e

E/\\\:%EZZQE&:Y: i/\\ﬂ_"f’
H - 28R EED 54 %191,900,000
7 7T $2191,900,000/8 7T Z 1 =461 2
IR TFTAEEZRITBHELER T —HE
fETTf’E#”;TfETEﬁ ASRIT AR 2 ABIT
—EEBEMES I ABEEZY -

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 20. EMEE
Standing
timbers
REFEZHA
HK$°000
FET
At 1 July 2020 RZZTE_ZTFLH—H 248,759
Change in fair value less costs to sell N EZ R HE KA (8,245)
Exchange differences fEH =% 23,695

At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZEZ_—FNA=Z+AHK

—E-—4%tHA—H 264,209
Change in fair value less costs to sell A EEER T EKA 10,018
Exchange differences P& i =% (7,148)
At 30 June 2022 RZEZZFA=+H 267,079

The Group’s biological assets represent standing timbers on
plantation land of approximately 30,000 Chinese Mu with a
lease term of 30 years, expiring in 2038. The standing
timbers comprise mostly poplar trees (accounting over 99%
of the total standing timbers), mixed with a very small
portion of other species of deciduous trees such as elm and
willow. During the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2021, the
Group did not harvest or sell any standing timbers.

TERREREEERAR

AEBE 2 EYE E AR 430,000
BHEEE T EAREEMAR » %iE
E B A30E RZE=)\F
W e REREKMAREELEBGH (UL
E2EARREK M AEIBIO% ) + FaE D
HEMRENZESA  flakEs &
Mg - HE—SE-——FR-_T—-—4&F
NAZTHLEFE  AEEWERK
o 88 & (E ] R KA o
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114

THERNAZTALEE

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The Group’s standing timbers as at 30 June 2022 were
independently valued by Colliers Appraisal and Advisory
Services Co., Ltd. (“Colliers”) which comprises a group of
independent professional valuers with experience and
expertise in relation to biological assets valuation. Their team
consists of professional valuers and agricultural experts who
work together in a wide array of biological assets to ensure
the reliability and fairness of their valuation results.
Accordingly, the directors are of the view that Colliers is
independent and competent to determine the fair value of
the Group’s biological assets.

Colliers has adopted a market approach for the valuation of
standing timbers. The method uses the present market value
in terms of price per unit cubic meter of round logs and the
total merchantable volume of timbers on the plantation land
as at 30 June 2022 as a basis for calculating the fair value
less costs to sell of the biological assets. Colliers has
adopted the measured merchantable volume of standing
timbers as indicated by an independent forest surveyor
engaged by the Group and also verified the market price per
cubic meter of logs by referencing to the market price lists,
after taking into account of local timber manufacturing
factories as well.

The management of the Company reviewed the valuation
performed by Colliers for financial reporting purposes. The
management of the Company:

— assessed the valuation techniques;

— verified all major inputs to the independent valuation
reports; and

—  held discussions with the independent valuer on the
valuation basis, processes and results.

The management of the Company reported directly to the
directors. Discussions of the valuation techniques, changes in
market information, the valuation processes and results were
held between the directors, the management of the
Company and Colliers to ensure the valuation has been
performed properly.
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20.

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
The principal assumptions adopted are as follows:

1. no material changes in the existing financial, economic,
taxation, legal, forestry technological, nature
conditions, political conditions, climate and any other
natural condition; and

2. the market conditions in which the region operate,
which are material to revenue and costs of the
businesses will have no material change.

The valuation technigues used in the determination of fair
values as well as the key inputs used in the valuation
models are disclosed in note 7.

Nature risk

The Group's revenue depends significantly on the ability to
harvest wood at adequate levels. The ability to harvest on
the plantation land and the growth of the trees on the
plantation land may be affected by unfavorable local
weather conditions and natural disasters. Severe weather
conditions and natural disasters such as earthquakes, rainfall,
underground water, fire, disease, insect infestation and pests
are examples of such events. The occurrence of severe
weather conditions or natural disasters may diminish the
supply of trees available for harvesting on the plantation
land, or otherwise impede the Group’s logging operations or
the growth of the trees on the plantation land, which in
turn may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
ability to produce the products in sufficient quantities and a
timely manner.

TERREREEERAR

20. AMEE (8§)

FIsRAmEIZRRAT

W%ﬂﬁi %%ﬂﬁ?ﬁ‘ﬂliﬁﬂﬁ
SRR R AE A H A R A AR R
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2. EEMEREETIR (HRHH
Wezs B pk 7R M = BB EK) i 3

EERAEBEMAZGERMNRMGEER
BUFRT A 2 RS B A BUR IO P RE7 43R

B 2 a1 kg

AREEMKE T EBURNESREKE
E) PR o FETRBAE 130 AR MR Y
EEARBELHEANERIERE
WERARRBEARBARALENTE -
BAHRRBAKBRKESRME
[EFE i oK AR B B &
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. BEEE
Exclusive
Operating distribution
rights rights Total
mEE BRYHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET &
Cost A
At 1 July 2020 R-_E_ZTFt+H—H 138,336 24,115 162,451
Exchange differences fEH =58 13,295 — 13,295
At 30 June 2021 and RZZEZ—FA=+H
1 July 2021 rEZE-_—%F+HF—H 151,631 24,115 175,746
Exchange differences fE & =% (3,921) — (3,921)
At 30 June 2022 RZE-_—_FA=+H 147,710 24,115 171,825
Accumulated amortisation RiTHiEisE R iB{EEE
and impairment losses
At 1 July 2020 R-ZE-_ZTF+H—H 53,413 18,246 71,659
Amortisation for the year £ R 4§ 4,927 206 5,133
Impairment loss recognised F A 2 #3278 & 18
for the year = 3,800 3,800
Exchange differences PE X Z=%E 5,261 — 5,261
At 30 June 2021 and R_T_—FXA=1H
1 July 2021 rE=—ZF=-_—FtH—H 63,601 22,252 85,853
Amortisation for the year F A # H 5,084 67 5,151
Impairment loss recognised 4 A 2 ## :R8 E & 18
for the year = 1,796 1,796
Exchange differences PEH = %8 (1,804) — (1,804)
At 30 June 2022 b"\_%ﬁ::
NA=1H 66,881 24,115 90,996
Carrying amount AREE
At 30 June 2022 RZEZ—4F
~NA=+A 80,829 — 80,829
At 30 June 2021 R-ZE——
NA=1H 88,030 1,863 89,893

The operating rights relate to the favorable aspect of the
right to use and operate the plantation land of a subsidiary

of the Company. The subsidiary was acquired in the year
ended 30 June 2009. The intangible assets are amortised
using straight-line method over the useful life of 30 years
and the remaining useful life is 16 (2021: 17) years.
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21.

22.

THERNAZTALEE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 21. BREE (8)
With reference to a valuation conducted by AP Appraisal L2 EB L BEHEM AP Appralsal
Limited, an independent professional valuer, the recoverable Limited 1T (EE - B2 —
amount of the Group’s operating rights is higher than its NA=TAHLFE - K’%l%«%%ﬂ
carrying amount and no impairment has been recognised AW EeEENEREE  BXE
during the year ended 30 June 2022. The recoverable HRMME - B2 FEDE AR
amount has been determined on the basis of the value in enBECERAAEFE)RERE
use by using discounted cash flow method (level 3 fair value BETE BFAMNBEIEEE16% °
measurements). The discount rate used was 16%.
The exclusive distribution rights relate to the exclusive rights BROEEERTESHERBEEST
to distribute and sell products associated with the golden REBHEBERNBRENER A
flower tea business in the PRC for a period of 30.6 years. HA30.65F - R 7 A B R IAIKA]
The exclusive distribution rights are amortised on a # 3 4 HA30.6F & &8 T 1] & A & HA
straight-line basis over the useful life of 30.6 years and the 265F (2B = — 4 : 2755 ) #iH -
remaining useful life is 26.5 (2021: 27.5) years.
The Group carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of AR AEENEmm S Sl BE
its exclusive rights during the year ended 30 June 2021 as a T —FXH 7—}— BIEFE - ZIKEI
result of the deterioration of the markets of the Group’s HEEBBREF AW EKIBEITE
products. These assets are used in the Group’s segment of B-ZEEENDARAEEHEEST
sales of golden flower tea products. The review led to a REMOPB - BE_T=_—F<H
provision for impairment loss of approximately =THIEFE SHEIRERER
HK$3,800,000 recognised in profit or loss during the year BB B 18 B 5 493,800,000/ 7T © AT UL
ended 30 June 2021. The recoverable amount of [B] & %8 491,863,000/ jT 73 {# FA B 3R
approximately HK$1,863,000 has been determined on the ReREBLETRABEEEE(F=R
basis of the value in use by using discounted cash flow ARrEFE)-MAMREXAR
method (level 3 fair value measurements). The discount rate 135% - IRIEAEA-Z __E/\ﬁ
used was 13.5%. Full impairment loss is recognised during ZTNBZESZSRER  AREAEH
the year ended 30 June 2022 as the Group decided to cease ERERIERESRTEES  HEZ
the golden flower tea business pursuant to the directors’ T__FAA=tRIEFE HEH#
resolution dated 29 June 2022. RAEDERMEEE-
GOODWILL 22. B8

HK$'000

FAT

Cost KR
At beginning and end of reporting period WE T R ER 1,087

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the CGU that are expected to benefit from
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill
had been allocated to the CGU of trading of motor vehicles.

TERREREEERAR

EBeoPRENRERNKER DR
ESSERE ﬁﬁ%i‘“/\f%ﬁ’]fﬁ‘i\ﬁiﬁ
- -BERAEE I KREAEERR
TELEEM -

—EZEEH 117



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

22.

23.

118

GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 22. HE(H)
Impairment testing of goodwill 2R E A
Trading of motor vehicles CGU AREEERSELAEM
Goodwill is tested for impairment for this CGU by the ERENZECEEBLHETEHER
management by estimating the recoverable amount of the BARN T EZRBEEREETER
CGU based on value-in-use calculation. AReELEBMNIT KB ESE-
As at 30 June 2022, the value-in-use calculation uses cash R-_ZE-_—_FA=1+H FHEE
flow projections based on the financial budgets approved by SATEGERANEREMSERFHRE
the management covering a 5-year period. Key assumptions BREERRENR SRR - EEE
used by the management in the value-in-use calculation of RBRSEEENFREBEFERER
the CGU include budgeted revenue and gross profit margin. MEZHRELFEEREREFEK -
The pre-tax discount rate used for estimating the value in HEtEREENBARIE X R135%
use is 13.5% (2021: 13.5%). The assumptions have been —EZ—%:135%) - RERIIRIE
determined based on past performance and management'’s EHBERPHAEEBENBRERS
expectations in respect of the motor vehicles trading in Hong LEBEERHERE -
Kong and the PRC.
The management is not currently aware of any other EREE AW NS N ARER
probable changes that would necessitate changes in its key FEMFOEMEMATEES  BHE
estimates. No impairment loss has been recognised for the —TE-—FXRNAZTHILFE #BE
year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: Nil). BRREBER(ZZE_—F:8)-
INVENTORIES 23. 58
2022 2021
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FER FAT
Goods for resale HEEM 29,630 25,264

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

2022 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B BwRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—FA=1+HIFE

24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. FEMIARFR R H ftb FE W FRIE

2022 2021

—_Eg-= —E-—%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FAT

Trade receivables JiE I BR 3R 33,369 39,806

Less: provision for impairment loss of — J&t : & Y BR ZOR (B &

trade receivables 18 B (8,231) (8,062)

25,138 31,744
Prepayments, deposits and other A HRIE - RE RHEAM

receivables JEUg 3k 18 22,059 29,984
Less: provision for impairment loss of & : B KIE & K
prepayments, deposits and H i, & U R TR R

other receivables (EN =R (696) (1,000)

21,363 28,984

Total #Et 46,501 60,728

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally range from 30 to 90
(2021: 30 to 90) days. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit. For new customers, payment in advance or cash on
delivery is normally required. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

$Elixuﬁéﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬂﬁ§
SEF-EEH KN ?30:.:9095
—E- 4 3019095)T E=2iv
EEHBEEELR- ﬁEﬁL%ak
B R E RT3 o NERE S skE H
MAEEREBRIARSERREE -8
ETHRB BB -

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the FEWERRIEZZERHZERE DT (B
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows: MBEE 0T :

2022 2021
—g=-= T —4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
0-90 days 0£90K 17,169 17,262
91-180 days 91£ 180K 5,317 11,229
181-360 days 181ZE360K 114 1,835
Over 360 days 1B #8360K 2,538 1,418
25,138 31,744

TERREREEERAR
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

The movement in provision for impairment of trade
receivables is as follows:

24.

I Wiz B 5k % L i FEE W 7R 1A (48)

FEWBRFOREREES T

2022 2021

—Eg=-= —EF-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

TET FHET

Balance at beginning of year F ¥ 45 R 8,062 8,062
Impairment loss recognised ERRREEE 175 —
Exchange differences ME 3, Z &R (6) —
Balance at end of year F IR EE R 8,231 8,062

Impaired trade receivables were mainly due from customers
with long outstanding balances and the management of the
Group considered the recoverability is remote as the related
customers were in financial difficulties or have prolonged
delay in repayment. The Group did not hold any material
collateral over those balances.

The movement in provision for impairment of prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is as follows:

ERERKEREIESERETFPNE
HAREESS MAEEEEERR
Ho Wil - REZEREFPER
RN R RBIEER - AEEL
BERZSERRETMNEAEANS -

T FOE  $ e B B RLfE
BESHIT

2022 2021

—Eg=-= —F-—F

HK$°000 HK$ 000

FHET FHT

Balance at beginning of year F ) 45 R 1,000 1,000
Impairment loss recognised ERRBEEE 408 —
Reversal of impairment loss B & 18 7 Bl (700) —
Exchange differences ME 3, Z 5 (12) —
Balance at end of year F IR a4 696 1,000
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24. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward
looking information.

24.

FFEE Wiz B 5k % L i FEE W 7R IE (48)

75 5 18 B A & 8 B % S E R SR 95R
] NH T30k - IR FT A FE MR K
MEMBHEERE  AIRBHEER
BiE - R ERMEEEE B
RERBHREERB R RASRX
BETOHE - BREEBREITEER
HEMEE R -

1-90 91-180 181-360  Over 360
days past days past days past days past
Current due due due due Total
ca EiE ca EiE
& 1E90X 91E180X 181F360K #il360XK @t
At 30 June 2022 R-B=-—%
~A=tH
Weighted average MELHEHERE
expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 7%
Receivable amount Eke®BE(THET)

(HK$'000) 17,169 5,305 56 106 10,733 33,369
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EiBE#E (TAT) — — — — (8,231) (8,231)
At 30 June 2021 R-F=—-%

~AA=+H
Weighted average MEFHEHERE

expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 90%
Receivable amount e (FET)

(HK$'000) 17,262 11,128 668 1,816 8,932 39,806
Loss allowance (HK$'000) RE5#E# & (FiET) — — — — (8,062) (8,062)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers who have no recent
history of default and have kept good track records with the
Group. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances. Based on past experience, the management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect
of these balances as there are no significant change in their
respective credit quality and the balances are still considered
fully recoverable.

EBRHMEREBE 2 BEKAES R
ARBYETHERESL KA RFE
AR ZBIYITFER AKEYTE
Bha% 5 A B R A AR an o ARIRIA
TR EEEHEEHNZTERE
BYEBBEACEEEREHRMNERA
2EUE - BB AR T EHRIE LR
ERE -
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e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

25. LOANS RECEIVABLE 25. B ER

2022 2021
—_Eg:-= —E-—%
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Loans receivable & I E = 16,166 16,294

Less: provision for impairment loss of — J& : & W E FOR E & 18
loans receivable, net of reversal B (F0BREE D) (4,033) (4,152)
12,133 12,142
Loans receivable, secured JEWEF - B HE 1,000 1,000
Loans receivable, unsecured JEW B FR - I 8,802 8,837
Loan interests receivable, secured JEWE A E - BEIE 1 1
Loan interests receivable, unsecured fEWE A B o EIK 2,330 2,304
12,133 12,142

The loans granted are interest bearing at 2%—-20% (2021:
2%-30%) per annum. The loan period is generally 12

BHEZEFZFMNE2%E20% (=ZF
T 1 2%%E30%):TE - EREM

— M AI2(ZZE = —F:35812) @
A o E W E FX 491,000,000 T (= F
— — % : 1,000,000/ 7T) A F & (=

(2021: 3 to 12) months. Loans receivable of approximately
HK$1,000,000 (2021: HK$1,000,000) are secured by watches
(2021: Watches). The directors of the Company monitored

the collectibility of the loans receivable closely with reference EZ—F:FR)EER - KARAE
to their respective current creditworthiness and repayment E2ZHEANBAIEAERERT
records. 8 BYERERERA KRS M -

RIEABEOFEINERFIARER
B HM %S E R WA B Rk D 1T

The ageing analysis of these loans and interests receivable,
based on loan commencement or renewal dates set out in

the relevant contracts, is as follows:

m -

2022 2021

—Eg-= —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

181-360 days 1812360K 12,133 12,142

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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RE B BwRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

25. LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED) 25. FEWEE R (&)
The movement in provision for impairment of loans ERERFREREZSOT :
receivable is as follows:
2022 2021
—F=-= —ET-—4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Balance at beginning of year F R 4,152 —
Impairment loss recognised ERRBRERSE — 4,152
Amounts written off EMiE e R (119) —
Balance at end of year F R 4,033 4,152
The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to AEEERBD DM RE LR FSHR
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected HETIKBGERE  FRAMAERKER
loss provision for all loans and interests receivable. To RFEmEBRTEMEEREE  stBH
measure the expected credit losses, loans and interests EEERGRREEG RAERHEE
receivable have been grouped based on shared credit risk EiE - BRERENEEREXRE
characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit BREBEHROHEREETSE B
losses also incorporate forward looking information. HEEEBETEEAEMLEER -
91-180 181-360  Over 360
days past days past days past
Current due due due Total
cEf cEf cEf
B 91E180X 181E360% #@iB360K @t
At 30 June 2022 R-B=-Zf
~A=tH
Weighted average expected loss rate 4 ¥ 13 78 Hi 5 18 & 0% 100% 0% 0%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) e (TET) 12,133 4,033 — — 16,166
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BRRE(TET) — (4,033) - - (4,033)
At 30 June 2021 R-E--—-%
~A=tH
Weighted average expected loss rate 14 ¥ 1978 2 &5 18 % 0% 100% 0% 100%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) EREE(TET) 12,142 4,033 — 119 16,294
Loss allowance (HK$'000) EHEEE(THET) — (4,033) — (119) (4,152)

The receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to independent borrowers that have good track records with
the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment loss is necessary in respect of this balance as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balance is still considered fully recoverable.

TERREREEERAR

BB HE R E 2 BRI EERSE
BERMEBLCHZZBIBRAR
B RIBAEESR ARAEERR
HRZERTBEREEEXREHE
DR/ 2EHKRE - WBEZ AR
fEHR BB E B
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-Z-_—F~A=1+HIFE

26. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

26. HAREFAEBZRE

2022 2021
—EgE-= —E=-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, at R & £ 2 R4 E

fair value 5 RBRANME 961 1,129

Unlisted investment — keyman RETIRE — FEBAE
insurance contract REEE 4 18,160 17,203
19,121 18,332

The fair value of the listed equity securities was determined
based on the quoted market bid prices of the corresponding
listed equity securities.

The keyman insurance contract relates to an insurance policy
insured for Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, the chief executive officer
and an executive director of the Company. The keyman
insurance contract is denominated in US dollars. The fair
value of the keyman insurance contract was estimated by
making reference to the cash surrender value set out in the
policy statement provided by the insurance company.

As at 30 June 2022, the keyman insurance contract with
carrying amount of approximately HK$18,160,000 (2021:
HK$17,203,000) was pledged to a bank to secure banking
facilities available to the Group.

27. REFUNDABLE SECURED DEPOSIT

The Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement and
a supplemental agreement on 27 November 2013 and
16 December 2013, respectively, with an independent third
party in relation to the acquisition of 100% equity interest
of a target company and its subsidiaries which are mainly
engaged in hotel operations in the PRC (the “Proposed
Acquisition”). On 23 December 2013, an amount of
HK$150,000,000 was paid by the Group as refundable
deposit. The refundable deposit was charged over the entire
issued share capital of a Hong Kong subsidiary of the target
company and was classified as secured deposit for
acquisition of subsidiaries as at 30 June 2014.

124
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THRABEZ AAETIREMRE L
MR AB SR MIEEBABETE -

TEABRRAMERDAITHARE
%%ﬁ%%ﬁﬁm%i&ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ
M-ZEIZABRBRAMONUERITE
(=00 IEAE%Amﬂmﬂﬁﬁ%%
R AR REHRERSAE 2 BRE
BB TG -

R-ZZE-—FXA=+H" EEEYD
/518,160,000 T (= T = — ¢
17,203 OOOz%E)E’]Ig/\EJ% ol
HMBTFAREEZRTHELR TR
TEAIEIR -

27. JRECHKFRE

AEBH-—EFZBBIF = TN _T—=
F+—A-++tHAR-E—=%F+—
ﬂ‘i'/\El o BIRT 3 B B 1% X A 7 1

WAﬁFeaLlézﬁﬁaﬁﬂT&EWE
/&TZWO%HXZK% CHEF B
B EREES((ERKEEE]) -
R-E—=%+-_HA=-+=H K&
% £:1150,000,0007 7T * £ A& 7] &
BiES MN-_ZTE—MESA=1+H"
ZENRERSEREERRN—FHE
EENMBAR 22 BITRAER
o WD EARKEBHEA RS KA
BE e
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

27.

REFUNDABLE SECURED DEPOSIT (CONTINUED)

According to the Company’s announcement dated
28 October 2014, the Group and the vendor entered into a
termination agreement to terminate the Proposed
Acquisition because certain conditions precedent of the
Proposed Acquisition were not satisfied. Pursuant to the
termination agreement, the Group and the vendor agreed
that the refundable deposit shall be refunded to the Group
by three installments including HK$60,000,000;
HK$45,000,000; and HK$45,000,000, repayable on
10 November 2014, 27 January 2015 and 27 April 2015,
respectively. The first installment of HK$60,000,000 was
received by the Company on 7 November 2014.

According to the Company’s announcement dated 18 June
2015, the Group and the vendor entered into a
supplemental termination agreement to amend certain terms
of the termination agreement relating to the refund of the
remaining refundable deposit. Pursuant to the supplemental
termination agreement, the Group and the vendor have
agreed that the remaining refundable deposit shall be
refunded to the Group by two installments including
HK$20,000,000 and HK$70,000,000, together with interest
as calculated at 5% per annum, repayable on 18 June 2015
and 19 November 2015, respectively. The second installment
of HK$20,000,000 together with interest was received by the
Group on 18 June 2015. During the year ended 30 June
2018, the Group received deposit refund of HK$58,000,000
together with interest income of HK$2,000,000. The deposit
of HK$12,000,000 was overdue as at 30 June 2021. On
23 August 2021, the Group and the vendor entered into an
agreement for the settlement of the remaining refundable
deposit of HK$12,000,000. Pursuant to the agreement, the
vendor shall pay HK$1,000,000 and HK$11,000,000 with
interest as calculated at 1% per annum within 14 days and
24 months, respectively, from the date of agreement signed.
During the year ended 30 June 2022, deposit of
HK$1,000,000 was refunded to the Group.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment loss is necessary in respect of this
balance as the Group obtains collateral from the vendor of
which the estimated value is sufficient to cover the
outstanding amount in case of default.

TERREREEERAR

27. JRECHTFRE (@)

BEARRABHA-ZT—NF+ A
ZHNBz2AM AEEEEFEI
BIEBEUREEZRESE  BA
BRI EIR 2B TR G R E
e iBIBERIEE AEBEE 5 H
FoRARERSE O ZHEETALE
B BESRER_ZE—NFE+—A
+H - —ZE—RAF—A=-++tHE=
T -—FHEMA=-++RHEZE
60,000,000/ JT * 45,000,000 T &
45,000,000 te AR A E R =&
—FE+— A+ BHWERE —HzHE
60,000,0007% JT °

BREBEARRABHA-_ZT—RAF A
TANBZRAM  REBBRE HEY—
DETEIEHE URBEHR T AR
BIESEBIREDZEZETER IR
BRI HE AEERHEFH
E BT ARE RS (874520,000,000
7 7T 5% 70,000,0005% JT & [ 1% 4 | &
5%t E2HMB) o MEIRE FAE
AR —E-—REANATNABR
—E—RAF+—A+hBEN &AL
BER-_Z—RAF~A+/\BEESE
— HAZX 1820,000,0005% T 3 [& Fl| &, °
REZE-_FE—NEXNA=Z1+HLHF
§ - A% E U EE £ 1R 558,000,000
75 7T 2 [/ #) B Uk A 2,000,000 Tt °
R-_ZE-_—F<A=+HB %<&
12,000,000/ cE@H - A =& = —
FNAZ+=R A&EEHEEFF
E &2 T Al R & 4£12,000,0005 7T 5]
Nz REZBE BEAAR
FrItZ BHE 4R K24E A A -
2 Bl 3% 151,000,000 7T 11,000,000
BT RENZKI%tE - HEZT
T —EXNAZTHULEEE ®&&
1,000,000 TERE T AEH -

ARRAREERG  HRAKERES
BEHERGENAFTEEEAREY
BN AREESHE RAUBARZS
BREHIER B R R B R

—E-EER 125



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-_T-—_FA=1+THIFE

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. EFNERFRHEMEMSRIE

2022 2021

—_Eg:-= —E-—%

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Trade payables JE 1S BR X 9,121 9,571
Other payables and accruals H b FERIBER

FERT3RIE 24,146 23,416

33,267 32,987

126

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of

FEfTBR IR E B 8 2 BR ik 0 T 40

receipt of goods, is as follows: T
2022 2021
—_Eg-= —E=-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHT
0-90 days 0£90K 9,012 9,053
91-180 days 91£ 180K — 267
181-360 days 1812360K 1 23
Over 360 days B A360K 108 228
9,121 9,571

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 HE-—T-—FA=1+THIFE

29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HEARE
Present Present
value of value of
Lease Lease lease lease
payments  payments payments  payments
HE HE
HEMR HEMR (#RBEE HFRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
“®--f T4 ¥ —E=-—F

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET TET FET TAT

Within one year —FR 3,209 11,980 2,221 10,948
In the second to fifth years, F_ZERF
inclusive (BREEEMST) 13,812 16,247 35,070 13,550
After five years hER 51,544 13,721 13,050 13,050
68,565 41,948 50,341 37,548
Less: Future finance charges W ARRBREER (18,224) (4,400)
Present value of lease obligations HEEMTRE 50,341 37,548
Less: Amount due for settlement B 12BAREBEE
within 12 months (shown B (B R R
under current liabilities) HEEET) (2,221)  (10,948)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 A & 2 Hi 45 & 30R
12 months 48,120 26,600
At 30 June 2022, the average effective borrowing rate was RZBEZZFA=+H ' FHEK
3.78% (2021: 3.65%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract BEEFRK A% (ZF — — F:
dates and thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate 3.65%) c FIEREABEEEE -
risk. A FEAEEEEGALERNERER -
30. BORROWINGS 30. &=
2022 2021
—_Eg:-= —E-—%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
Ti#&T FHET
Bank loans HITER 67,657 70,787
Director loans EN- N 558 —
Shareholder loan fi% R & = — 1,000
68,215 71,787
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30.

128

“FERNA=THRLFE

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The banking facilities of the installment loan and revolving
loan contain a repayment on demand clause that provides
the bank with an unconditional right to demand repayment
at any time at its own discretion. As at 30 June 2022,
installment loan of approximately HK$52,357,000 (2021:
HK$55,487,000) is repayable more than one year after the
end of the reporting period pursuant to the repayment
schedule included in the installment loan agreement.
Revolving loan of approximately HK$15,300,000 (2021:
HK$15,300,000) is repayable on the maturity date of that
advance unless the bank allows for a rollover. Both loans are
charged at 2.75% below the bank’s prime lending rate. Due
to the repayment on demand clause, such amounts of loans
were classified as current liabilities as at 30 June 2022 and
2021 in accordance with Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause. The bank loans are arranged at floating
rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk.

As at 30 June 2022, the bank loans were secured by (i) the
car parking spaces with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$191,900,000; (i) a deed of assignment of
rental income from the car parking spaces; (iii) the keyman
insurance contract classified under the investments at fair
value through profit or loss with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$18,160,000; and (iv) personal guarantee
from a director of the Company.

The director loans are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
within one year.

The shareholder loan was unsecured, interest-free and repaid
during the year ended 30 June 2022.

The effective interest rate at the end of the reporting period
was 2.52% (2021: 2.47%).

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2022 HZE—-F— —

31.

32.

“FERNA=THLFEE

DEFERRED TAX 31. EBEHIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities NTAREERRNEZRELERES
recognised by the Group. f& °
Fair value
adjustment
on biological Operating
assets rights Total
EPEEZ _ N
AR EAE mEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAET FAET
At 1 July 2020 RZTE_ZTFLH—H 62,191 21,229 83,420
Credited to profit or loss for ~ F AR BT A FiE12)
the year (note 12) (2,061) (1,232) (3,293)
Exchange differences fEH =% 5,924 2,009 7,933
At 30 June 2021 and R_ZE_—FXA=+H
1 July 2021 T —F+H—H 66,054 22,006 88,060
Charged/(credited) to profit or F ARE B, (5T A)
loss for the year (note 12) (Brat12) 2,504 (1,271) 1,233
Exchange differences & i =58 (1,787) (529) (2,316)
At 30 June 2022 RZTEZZFA=+H 66,771 20,206 86,977

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$120,390,000 (2021:
HK$108,658,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams of the respective group entities. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
HK$5,235,000 (equivalent to RMB4,469,000) (2021:
HK$5,642,000 (equivalent to RMB4,692,000)) that will expire
in 5 years from the year of origination. Other tax losses may

RI|EBHR RNEBKXFHHBKBA
E518#9120,390,0008 L (- T = —4 :
108,658,000/ JT) A 4 % 5 K &k
A e HRERTBASEBTEAK
mAR MAER A A AEEIR
BRIECHBEE - st AKRER TRIE
&5 18 19 & 18 495,235,000/ 7T (# &
%AEM4,469,0007‘5)(:§:—¢ :
5,642,000 L (M E R A R ¥
4,692,0007T) ) % B #E 15 F JE 556
|§ —+

be carried forward indefinitely. JE M o B b B TR 5 18 1) Bk MR PR B A
#E o
SHARE CAPITAL 32. X
2022 2021
—Eg=-= T —4F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FETT
Authorised: EE
15,000,000,000 ordinary shares of FREE.02B T
HK$0.02 each 15,000,000,0000% & 3 % 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRHR:
2,036,538,114 (2021: 2,036,538,114) & RXE{E0.02/ 7T 2
ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each 2 036 538 1148%
_ ? —_ f'E
2,036,538, 1141%) & @ f% 40,731 40,731
FRRBEERSEEERAR ZBZZFFH, 129
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 33.

COMPANY AND RESERVES

(a)

130

Statement of financial position of the

KABZHBRRRRER

(a) FAFZMBRRR

Company
2022 2021
—F=-= T —fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#&T FHE T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries BB AR Z®E 18 18
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other B ZIE - & R EAth
receivables FE U 3k TE 653 479
Due from subsidiaries JE W Bft /B8 & & 5K I8 274,826 275,229
Bank and cash balances RITRIB e & 851 334
276,330 276,042
Current liabilities REAEE
Other payables H b & 1 5118 9,045 7,777
Due to subsidiaries XN NEENGIE S 52,488 37,194
Borrowings fg 3 — 1,000
61,533 45,971
Net current assets REBEEFE 214,797 230,071
NET ASSETS EEFHE 214,815 230,089
Capital and reserves EAXRGEE
Share capital g A& 40,731 40,731
Reserves i1 174,084 189,358
TOTAL EQUITY HELR 214,815 230,089

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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RE B BwRME

For the year ended 30 June 2022 EHZ_-F—

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

THERNAZTALEE

COMPANY AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) (#8)
(b) AT #E

(b) Reserves of the Company

33. ANTNZHBERRERME

Share-based
Share compensation

Accumulated

(c)

premium reserve losses Total
BorifE BB < s RitBHE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
At 1 July 2020 RZE_TF
+A—8H 1,210,501 12,630  (1,003,605) 219,526
Loss for the year FREEBAE = = (30,168) (30,168)
At 30 June 2021 RZETE_—F
NA=TH 1,210,501 12,630  (1,033,773) 189,358
At 1 July 2021 R-—ZT——
+A—H 1,210,501 12,630  (1,033,773) 189,358
Loss for the year FEEE — — (15,274) (15,274)
At 30 June 2022 i
ANA=TH 1,210,501 12,630  (1,049,047) 174,084

Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group

()

(i)

Share premium account

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands, the funds in the share premium account
of the Company are distributable to the
shareholders of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant regulations of the
PRC, the group entities established in the PRC
are required to transfer a certain percentage of
the profit after tax, if any, to a statutory reserve.
Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the
relevant regulations, the statutory reserve may be
used to offset the accumulated losses, if any, of
the group entities.

TERREREEERAR

(0 FREBZHERAE

()

(i)

B 3 it {8 R

*ETFF%EJX%%’AT% N
REIBEMBRERZESH
DIk TARBIRR - HERT
EERERZEDIRRE R

Hi1& - NRRREESE R
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 33. A S Z MR R R H#HE
COMPANY AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) (&)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group () FEERFEZMHERAR

(Continued) (48)

(iii) Capital reserve (iii) BEAXEE
Capital reserve represents the difference between BARRBEARREAZ
the capital injection made by the Company over & & B BB A R
the nominal value of the registered capital of the BAEBEZHNERE -
subsidiaries in the PRC.

(iv) Share-based compensation reserve (iv) B BN &R
Share-based compensation reserve represents the RO REEED BB
fair value of the actual or estimated number of LARE aR A B UARR 19 /5 Bl
unexercised share options granted to directors NR(R W) TRz &
and employees of the Group recognised in ST MREAEEE
accordance with the accounting policy adopted EREERD ZER G
for equity-settled share-based payments in note B 2 ARTTEERE
4. NafE-.

(v) Foreign currency translation reserve (v) SMEERIRGEE
Foreign currency translation reserve comprises all INERBREERIERES
foreign exchange differences arising from the INEEITEMERFIEEZ
translation of the financial statements of foreign FrEELEZR - BHERE
operations. The reserve is dealt with in 1B MY A4 & 2 & 5T IR
accordance with the accounting policies set out KRR -
in note 4.

34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 34. LIRHr BEREM R
Equity-settled share option scheme PARR 8 45 B 2 B Rz #E 5t 1
The existing share option scheme of the Company was AARRITEREAENR_Z—HF
approved on 11 November 2015 (“Share Option Scheme") +— A+ —RESE (TEREE)
(the 10% general limit under the said share option scheme (BEARNR_ZE—RHF+—A
has been refreshed pursuant to a resolution passed by the T-HRTHNRRBFEFARASELART
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting R B 388 38 B R 3 B2 5 T A Al A B AR A
of the Company held on 11 November 2015). The purpose TEIR10% — M EFR) - BB AR T2
of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the Group with a EEEASBENUE TR M EES
flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding, THE - HE ek RIRER
remunerating, and/or providing benefits to the participant - ARG TFLEERASEFEE
and to provide the participant with the opportunity to AR sHE  WEANEEEDEE
acquire a personal stake in the Group and to build common ZHEBVHERBEE  UREXREEZ
objectives of the Group and the participant for the (¥R RABMENTIRABRTEEE
betterment of business and profitability of the Group and its =R
shareholders as a whole.
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The Board of Directors may, at their discretion, invite any
participant to take up options. An option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her
signing the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the
option and paying HK$1 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof.

The subscription price for shares in the Company under the
Share Option Scheme will be the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares in the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which
date must be a business day); (ii) a price being the average
of the closing prices of the shares in the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of the Company.

The total number of shares in the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of shares in the Company in issue as at the
date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. An option
may be exercised during a period to be determined by the
directors in its absolute discretion and in any such period
shall not be longer than 10 years from the date upon which
the option is granted.

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant under the
Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue of the
Company. Any further grant of options in excess of the 1%
limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting. The Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date upon
which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted.

34. UizxfnBERER R (&)

MRS H 2RIk &5 8 (&)

ExgrMNRRFEMN2EERNE
Pt - IR ARE — A MDD RREMN
R RLAE 2 B RSB TT AR R R
BREZRER BRESHAERE
B R AR A -

RIZBAIER S - NARRDRIEE
ARUTERZERE (VREBMK
BER(WEREXR)EMXZMEH
BERMBARBBRADKHE - (i)
EREEREEANOEALXAMI
FrERmERMBARRBROKTE
B FI5(E ¢ KA R AR EE -

RIZE AR & AR AHEE MR
Petgat 8% TR M 2 2 BB A T
EMAET2ARRRDEE - &1
TEBANIERREFEEBAR
BB EITIRMAEN10% - BAUER
REZZENBEE ZMAATE
HEERBRT ARMETSER
FERER L A HIR10%F -

RIEBRES - ER—K28EHL
EA+—_EAAREARTES2EE
EREREMET RS TRIT RN
BERRSRE  TSEBEREANADE
TR A% - EE - TR HEB
B1%RAE 2 BIHE  BRBRRIK
RARGHME M2 EERERSE
ATGERURT - BAIRE SN B
RRE SR RZM 2 BEER10
FHRABR -
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Details of the movements of share options are as follows:

34. LIk BEEIMFR(E)
MRS H 2 BiR#E5 8 (&)

BRERD 2 HEDT

Number of
share options
BRERE
Balance as at
1 July 2020
30 June 2021,
Exercise price 1 July 2021 and
Grantees Date of grant Exercise period per share 30 June 2022
R-B-%%F
tA—H8-:
—E-—F
~A=+H:-
—E=-—%F
tA—BX%
—g=-Z
RIBA RHEH T BRITEE NA=StTHZER
HK$
BT
Executive directors 22 April 2016 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 0.2064 42,428,451
WITE=S —E—RF —E-R"FmEA=+=AZE
MAZ+=ZH ZTEZR"FEA=-+—H
Executive directors 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 9,900,000
WiTES —ZT-N\F —E-NFEAAERZE
ANHAER —EN\FRA@A
Chief executive officer 22 April 2016 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 0.2064 14,142,817
THAER —E—RF ZE-ARFMAZ+=HZE
WA-+=-H —ZE-_~"FWA-+—H
Chief executive officer 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 2,800,000
TR ARH —E-N\F —ZE-NFERAERZE
~NARR —E-N\FARAEA
Independent non-executive directors 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 3,000,000
BUFHTES —Z2-N\F —E2-NFRBERZE
NAEHR —E-NFXAOEA
An employee 22 April 2016 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 0.2064 14,142,817
—%EE —E-RF ZE-ARFMAZ+=ZHE
MAZ+=ZH ZZZR"FMEA=-+—H
Employees 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 18,700,000
(=31 ZE-N\F ZE-NFRAREBE
NAEA —E-NFXRAONA
105,114,085
Weighted average 0.2426

exercise price (HK$)

IHEFITEE B T)
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34. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
The fair value of share options was calculated using the

binomial pricing model. The inputs into the model are as
follows:

34. UizxfnBERER R (&)

MRS H 2RIk &5 8 (&)

BhREgzZARENER_HUEEE
BRGHE ZRWZWABEANT

Date of grant 22 April 2016 5 June 2018
—T—-RE¥ —E—N\Ef

=it BaH mA=+=H 7~AAH
Stock price % & HK$0.198 HK$0.315
0.198 7T 0.315%8 7T

Strike price TEE HK$0.2064 HK$0.317
0.20647% 7T 0.317% 7T

Historical volatility i A ] 96.86% 47.82%
Contractual life (years) ERFH(F) 10 10
Risk free rate # [ b ) = 1.311% 2.125%
Dividend yield fig B a3 0% 0%
Early exercise multiple RETERBH 2.8 2.2-2.8
Exit rate per annum FRAKE 22.92% 0%-27.32%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the
previous 10 years. The expected life used in the model has
been adjusted, based on the Group’s best estimate, for the
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioural considerations.

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 30 June 2021, a keyman
insurance contract was entered by the Group as a
purchase of investments at fair value through profit or
loss, and a partial of the lump sum insurance premium
of the keyman insurance contract of approximately
HK$15,300,000 was settled by a bank on behalf of the
Group to the insurance company, by crediting the
same amount to bank loans of the Group.

35.

FEHIR IR DIRIBA QB RERBE T
FZELRBOFEMEE - ZEA
FAZEHFHEREASE 2 &IE
et AR EE  TERBILITA
AEMERZIEZETAAE -

FEBHERERZMEE

(a) EEHFBEXS

HEz—_ZT_-_—FA=+81
FE AEEFTL—MHEEA
BERBREN EABERAR
EBEif ABHZZIEE MEEA
BERBEN 2D —EBRE
#715,300,0007%% 7T E B — & iR
TREAEEZABHERESSE
FTAREE 2 R1TE M A 3%

R AREME
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 35. ZKERERERZMEE(E)
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BB TEELEZERBED
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in TRINREFEANEEFRGEEH
liabilities arising from financing activities during the EEXvBEES
year:
Total
liabilities
from
Lease financing
Borrowings liabilities activities
RIS EEELE
LEEN AMEEE ZHEAERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FB T TET TET
At 1 July 2020 R-T-_TF
+tH—H 27,500 30,395 57,895
Changes in cash flows ReEmE &g 27,843 (3,072) 24,771
Non-cash changes FEEEF
— additions — ANE — 8,544 8,544
— interest charged — BEFIE 1,144 1,134 2,278
— directly settled by a — BEEH MR
bank to an insurance T —RERE AR
company 15,300 — 15,300
— exchange differences — [EH =% = 547 547
At 30 June 2021 and RZTZ—F
1 July 2021 XA=+BK
Tt H—H 71,787 37,548 109,335
Changes in cash flows HEeEMELD (5,285) (6,014) (11,299)
Non-cash changes B )
— additions =1 = 21,855 21,855
— interest charged — BEAE 1,737 1,871 3,608
— gain on waiver of lease — HHEBEE % K=
liabilities — (2,578) (2,578)
— exchange differences — [E X =58 (24) (2,341) (2,365)
At 30 June 2022 N-—ZT——
~NA=+H 68,215 50,341 118,556
36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. HAETE
The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities AEBRZZE__FR-_T-_—FX
at 30 June 2022 and 2021. A=+BHBYEAEREANXKAEE -
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37. COMMITMENTS 37. HiE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had R¥EHR - REE AT ERRE
contracted with a tenant for the following minimum lease HENRE-—RHEPIIBEEA :
payments receivable:
2022 2021
- —E-—%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TFERT FAT
Within one year —F R 2,000 3,000
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EZFERE
(BREEEMEF) — 2,000
2,000 5,000
The Group leases its investment properties (note 19) under AEERBLEEHELHEEERE
operating lease arrangements which run for an initial period ) 3 (T 3519) - 91 25 F0 B R24F » 7]
of 2 years, with an option to renew the lease terms at the BENIEASARSEEESE T
expiry date or at dates as mutually agreed between the EZBHEEEMEE-
Group and the tenant.
38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. FEANLRSD
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed (a) BRZELHRE M HRRE M
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, DPRBEZR G REBRI F
during the year, the Group entered into the following N AEBEFT LA TERNBE
material related party transactions. ALTRS e
2022 2021
—F=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Rental paid (note (a)) EREE (M iE@E) — 176
Sales to a related company 7] — el B 8 2 A 8
(note (b)) (Bt &tb)) 8 25
Notes: 7
(@)  Rental were paid to a company in which the mother of (@ MHeEXNTFARBNITE
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang (“Mr. Yeung”), an executive director, E - FERTHEIRETER
Chairman and Chief Executive Director and a substantial REEEEE(BREE]D 2E
shareholder of the Company, has 50% indirect equity HEAS0%HEERAEZO A
interest. A e
(b)  Goods were sold to and purchased from a company whose (b) M—EAREERE —HBAA
director is the spouse of a director of the Company's BEER ZARESZTALR
subsidiary. AIMB AR —REE RS
(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) EEEE A S HW
Remuneration for key management personnel of the AEEBXTEEBEABZHINE
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s BEXNTARRESFREEB&
directors and all the highest paid employees, is = E B 2 I R 148
disclosed in note 14. = o
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39. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. AAT T EMEBATIHE

OF THE COMPANY

J& e A< BT BB A R Y RRIA R R R
A 2ERERETEERS -

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

RZE-_—_FXA=+B > KXRQAA*E
EHMBARIZFHBOT

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at
30 June 2022 are as follows:

138

Place of incorporation/ Issued
registration and and paid-up Percentage of
Name operation capital ownership interest Principal activities
SRR R BEITR
ey BEME BREX BEET L TEEH
Direct Indirect
BE ol
Grand Diamond Investment Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Provision of money
Limited lending services
BEEREBRAA B 1T REEERY
International Richway Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% — Provision of
management
services and
investment holding
BIFRE A R A A BB 10,0007 7T RUEBEBRHB K
KREER
Mega Choice Holdings Limited The British Virgin Us$1 100% — Securities trading and
Islands investments
RERZAS (Ep ERBEERKRE
Prima Choice Limited The British Virgin Us$1 100% — Investment holding
Islands
RERZHS 17T REZRK
Harvest Top Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 100% Property investment
HAERBRAQA B 10,0007 7T MEKRE
Peak Environmental Resources Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 = 100% Trading of recycled
Limited metals
BRBEREXERAA & 7,000,000/ 7T BEERWEE
Samuel Environmental Resources  Hong Kong HK$1 — 100% Trading of recycled
(HK) Limited metals
ARBEREFX(FBE)ERAA R BT BEEOUEE
IS &M EBR DT (Note 1) the PRC HK$600,000 = 100% Plantation related
(Ki:1) business
H 600,000/ 7T EEEBEY
RERHEBEAR AR (Note 1) the PRC HK$77,000,000 — 80% Property investment
(Htzt1)
FE 77,000,000/ 7 MEKRE
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39. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. AT EMBATIEIE (E)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Place of incorporation/ Issued
registration and and paid-up Percentage of
Name operation capital ownership interest Principal activities
MRS AR R BEITR
kY BEME BREX BAEET L TEEH
Direct Indirect
BE e %

BAC HK Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 90% Trading of motor
vehicles and related
accessories

BB 10,0007 7T EEAERAABER M

Power Asia Motorsport Company  Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 90% Trading of motorcycles

Limited and related
accessories
BB 10,0007% 7T EEEEERIEH
Fie

CER Ho Wun Motors Limited Hong Kong HK$100 — 51% Trading of motor
vehicle accessories
and investment
holding

HEBEERRAR BB 1007 7T BEEABRMHREE

CER Motorsport Limited Hong Kong HK$100 = 60% Provision of services
related to
motorcycles

&8 1007 7T TR E B E AR RS

HEEEORI)ERETMEAF  the PRC = = 51% Trading of motor

(Note 1)(f7:#1) vehicle accessories
i E BEEAERMY
LFBEEZSBERANF (Note 1) the PRC RMB6,330,000 = 100% Sales of golden flower
(Hii1) tea products
H AR #6,330,0007T HESEREm
Waldo Kingdom Private Limited Nepal NPR219,543,500 — 100% Hotel business
==L 219,543,500 IR
B E

Note 7: Wholly-owned foreign enterprise established in the PRC.

40. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

26 February 2023.

TERREREEERAR

BMiatr - RPBRI 2 2 EBINEE-

HEGESMBRE

HREVBRER_ZT_=ZF_A
—tFRNBEESe R ATRETE-
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AFEMBEHE

AEEBERERRFENREALDEER
BEZBEBEIN T ARIHEBEE T
RrRBRYBHRE ARNBEEBRATE

M-

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements and reclassified as
appropriate, is set out below.

RESULTS For the years ended 30 June
E 5 BEANAZTHILEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZRIZFE —T--F ZT-FF —T-NF —TN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAL FET FET FHET
Revenue W= 93,188 77,878 75,406 119,387 212,276
Loss before tax B 3 A &5 18 (13,222) (50,056) (56,782) (139,131) (205,061)
Income tax (expense)/credit FIEH (Fx) /
Cived) (1,606) 1,114 1,008 17,991 44,475
Loss for the year FEEBR (14,828) (48,942) (55,774) (121,140) (160,586)
Other comprehensive Hizm (F8) /
(loss)/income W = (8,404) 30,913 (12,423) (15,886) 17,830
Total comprehensive loss ~ FE 2 EBERATE
for the year (23,232) (18,029) (68,197) (137,026) (142,756)
Total comprehensive MTATEEEE
(loss)/income for the 2H (BE) /
year attributable to: Wiz 4
Owners of the Company AR RHEHE A (24,899) (16,058) (67,610) (137,774) (142,235)
Non-controlling interests ~ 3E#22 ik i 25 1,667 (1,971) (587) 748 (521)
(23,232) (18,029) (68,197) (137,026) (142,756)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES As at 30 June
EERER BRAB=+H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—®¥=-ZC —E - ZTZTF ZT-NF ZZT-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATL FET FET FTET
Non-current assets ERBEE 673,988 669,382 641,280 656,233 767,728
Current assets TMEEE 106,520 130,268 121,118 129,531 152,106
Current liabilities mEAE (108,942) (125,289) (73,436) (50,868) (24,218)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (135,097) (114,660) (111,230) (88,967) (112,661)
Net assets EEFHE 536,469 559,701 577,732 645,929 782,955
Attributable to: LT ALTREWN:
Owners of the Company  ARARHEE A 524,196 549,095 565,158 632,768 770,542
Non-controlling interests ~ 3E#E f% i 25 12,273 10,606 12,574 13,161 12,413
Total equity EEEs 536,469 559,701 577,732 645,929 782,955
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